Forecasting of Sepsis in ICU patients using Deep Learning AI



A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science in Bioinformatics

By

Muhammad Huzaifa Arshad

Fall 2019-MS BI-4 00000317471

Supervised by

Dr Mehak Rafiq

School of Interdisciplinary Engineering & Sciences (SINES) National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST) Islamabad, Pakistan.

September 2022

Dedication

I dedicate this work to my family for their constant

love and support

Certificate of Originality

I declare that this thesis is a result of my research and struggle. Furthermore, none of its contents has been plagiarised or submitted for a higher degree. Finally, other people's contributions to this project are acknowledged and referenced.

Muhammad Huzaifa Arshad

Fall 2019-MS BI-4 00000317471

Acknowledgement

First, I would like to thank Almighty Allah, the benevolent and merciful. Whose blessing and glory flourished my thoughts and thrived my ambitions, giving me talented teachers, affectionate parents, sweet brother and caring sisters, family members and unique friends, and gave me the ability and thinking power to accomplish this research work.

I thank my Head of Department, Dr Fouzia Malik, for her mentorship. In addition, my sincere appreciation is towards my supervisor Dr Mehak Rafiq, whom I relied upon for ultimate guidance. Her dedication and constructive comments on my work helped me provide the best version of myself. I am grateful for the contribution of her time and efforts that helped in achieving this output. She has been and always be a Mentor to me.

Moreover, I thank my guidance committee members: Dr Muhammad Tariq Saeed and Dr Maria Shabbir, who have constantly supported me. I needed their encouragement for the completion of this task. I am also thankful to Principal RCMS (now SINES) Dr Rizwan Riaz for providing a collaborative and constructive environment. Finally, I thank my current Principal SINES, Dr Hammad Cheema, faculty members, fellow friends, and the lab assistants at SINES, NUST.

I owe big thanks to my research group, including Noor, Farhana, Tayyaba, Mehar, Nimrah, Rumsha, Madahiah, Haseeb, Farhan, Ameer, and Mohsin, for their constant support and help in achieving the goal.

I am cordially thankful to my dearest friends at NUST, Maham Ahmad, Maheera Amjad, and Abbas Khan, for their consistent support and encouragement and for motivating me throughout my studies and research phase.

Finally, I want to express my sincere thanks to my parents and family for their unwavering support and prayers, which were a source of relief and comfort during this challenging research period, and throughout my master's journey.

Table of Contents

List of Abbreviation
List of Tablesxiv
List of Figuresxv
Abstractxvii
Introduction1
1.1. Insights to sepsis1
1.1. Pathophysiology of Sepsis2
1.4. Challenges5
1.5. Problem Statement
1.6. Proposed Strategy6
1.7. Objectives
Literature Review7
2.1. Sepsis Epidemiology7
2.2. Assessment of Sepsis9
2.2.1. SIRS
2.2.2. SOFA
2.2.3. qSOFA
2.2.4. NEWS2
2.3. Invasive methods based sepsis detection
2.4. Non-Invasive methods based sepsis detection15
2.4.1. Machine learning based Sepsis detection16
Methodology24
3.1. Data Collection
3.2. Data Preparation
3.3. Python libraries

3.4. Data Pre-processing and Exploratory Data Analysis (EDA)	27
3.4.1. Dealing with Missing values	27
3.4.2. Correlation Analysis	27
3.4.3. Feature Selection	
3.4.4. Outlier Detection	28
3.4.5. Age Analysis	28
3.4.6. ICULOS Analysis	29
3.4.7. Patient Separation	29
3.4.8. Data Imputation	29
3.4.9. Train-Validation Data Split	30
3.4.10. Creating multi-index data frame and Tensors	30
3.5. Model building and optimisation	
3.5.1. Selected Algorithms	31
3.5.1.1. LSTM Networks	32
3.5.1.2. GRU Networks	32
3.5.2. Model Architecture Decisions	32
3.5.2.1. Masking layer	33
3.5.2.2. LSTM / GRU layer	33
3.5.2.3. Output layer	33
3.5.2.4. Model Compilation	33
3.5.2.5. Model Training	33
3.6. Model Evaluation	34
Results	35
4.1. Data collection and preparation	35
4.2. Data Pre-processing and EDA	35
4.2.1. Missing (NaN) values	35
4.2.2. Correlation analysis	35

4.2.3. Feature Selection	
4.2.4. Outlier detection and removal	
4.2.5. Age and Gender Analysis	
4.2.6. ICULOS Analysis	42
4.2.7. Septic and non-septic patient separation	44
4.2.8. Missing data imputation	45
4.2.9. Data Splitting	46
4.2.10. Multi-indexing and padding	46
4.3. Model training and evaluation	46
Discussion	51
Conclusion and Future Perspectives	54
References	55

List of Abbreviation

WHO	World Health Organization
ICU	Intensive Care Unit
DL	Deep-learning
LOCF	Last Observation Carried Forward
LSTM	Long short-term memory
GRUs	Gated recurrent units
AUROC	Area Under the Receiver Operating
	Characteristic curve
ICULOS	Intensive Care Unit Length of Stay
SCCM	Society of Critical Care Medicine
ACCP	American College of Chest Physicians
SIRS	Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome
MODS	Multiple Organ Dysfunction Syndrome
ESICM	European Society of Intensive Care Medicine
SIS	Surgical Infection Society
ATS	American Thoracic Society
SOFA	Sequential Organ Failure Assessment
qSOFA	quick SOFA
PaO ₂	Partial pressure of oxygen in the arterial blood
FiO ₂	Fraction of inspired oxygen
GCS	Glasgow Coma Scale
MAP	Mean Arterial Pressure
SBP	Systolic blood pressure

NK Cells	Natural Killer Cells
PRRs	Pattern-Recognition Receptors
TLRs	Toll-Like Receptors
NOD	Nucleotide-binding oligomerisation domain
RIG-1	Retinoic acid-inducible gene-1
MD-2	Myeloid differentiation factor-2
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
PAMPs	Pathogen-Associated Molecular Patterns
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
LPA	Lysophosphatidic acid
SPE	Streptococcal Pyrogenic Exotoxins
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
DAMPs	Damage/Danger-Associated Molecular Patterns
HMGB1	High-mobility group box 1
mtDNA	Mitochondrial DNA
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
IL-6	Interleukin-6
IL-1	Interleukin-1
TNF-α	Tumour Necrosis Factor-α
IL-18	Interleukin-18
IL-1β	Interleukin-1-beta
C5a	Complement factor 5a
DIC	Disseminated Intravascular Coagulation
RBCs	Red Blood Cells

ROS	Reactive oxygen species
MOFS	Multiple Organ Failure Syndrome
USA	United States of America
CDC	Centres for Disease Control
Octogenarians	Between 80-90 years of age
Sexagenarian	Between 60-69 years of age
CRP	C-reactive protein
РСТ	Procalcitonin
sTREM-1	Soluble form of Triggering Receptor Expressed
	on Myeloid cells-1
LBP	Lipopolysaccharide-binding protein
suPAR	Soluble form of Urokinase Plasminogen
	Activator Receptor
Pro-ADM	Proadrenomedullin
sCD14-ST	Soluble form of Cluster of Differentiation 14
	subtype
Pro-ANP	Pro-atrial natriuretic peptide
IFN-y	Interferon-y
IL-27	Interleukin-27
Ang-1	Angiopoietin-1
Ang-2	Angiopoietin-2
М	Mannan
AM	Antimannan
miRNAs	MicroRNAs

circRNAs	Circular RNAs
lncRNAs	Long non-coding RNAs
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
NEWS2	National Early Warning Score 2
WBCs	White Blood Cells
RCPL	Royal College of Physicians of London
NEWS	National Early Warning Score
Bpm	Breath per minute
HR	Heart Rate
BC	Blood Culture
LBC	Laboratory Blood Culture
SBC	Satellite Blood Culture
SF	SeptiFast
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
SICU	Surgical ICU
CD64	Cluster of Differentiation 64
GEO	Gene Expression Omnibus
DEGs	Differentially Expressed Genes
TRIM25	Tripartite Motif Containing 25
RNF4	Ring Finger Protein 4
EMR	Electronic Medical Record
ED	Emergency Department
CI	Confidence Interval
SBP	Systolic Blood Pressure

MAP	Mean Arterial Pressure
O ₂ Sat	Oxygen Saturation
DBP	Diastolic Blood Pressure
Resp	Respiration Rate
Temp	Temperature
ML	Machine Learning
SL	Supervised Learning
UL	Unsupervised Learning
RL	Reinforcement Learning
NN	Neural Networks
k-NN	k-Nearest Neighbours
LR	Logistic Regression
SVM	Support Vector Machine
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic
	Reviews and Meta-analysis
MEWS	Modified Early Warning System
MIMIC	Medical Information Mart for Intensive Care
UCSF	University of California, San Francisco
SAPS-II	Simplified Acute Physiology Score-II
AISE	Artificial Intelligent Sepsis Expert
WCPH	Weibull Cox proportional hazards
AIDEx	Artificial Intelligence Decompensation Expert
GUI	Graphical User Interface
SERA	Sepsis Early Risk Assessment

CDR	Clinical Decision Rule
RF	Random Forest
LR	Logistic Regression
CURB-65	Confusion, Uremia, Respiratory Rate, Blood
	Pressure, Age > 65 years
MEDS	Mortality in Emergency Department Sepsis
mREMS	Modified Rapid Emergency Medicine Score
CART	Classification And Regression Tree
CNN-LSTM	Convolutional Long Short-Term Memory
	Neural Network
ESM	Epic Sepsis Model
EHR	Electronic Healthcare Record
COMPOSER	Conformal Multidimensional Prediction of
	Sepsis Risk
DeepAISE	Deep Artificial Intelligence Sepsis Expert
SSP	Smart Sepsis Predictor
CNN	Convolutional Neural Networks
TREWScore	Targeted Real-time Early Warning Score
PSV	Pipe-Separated Value format
NaN	Not a number
CSV	Comma-Separated Value format
P_ID	Patient ID
EDA	Exploratory Data Analysis
FFILL	Forward Fill

RNN	Recurrent Neural Network
API	Application Programming Interface
SMOTE	Synthetic Minority Over-sampling Technique

List of Tables

Table 1: Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score [8]	11
Table 2: Quick Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (qSOFA) score	12
Table 3: National Early Warning Score 2 (NEWS2) [64]	13
Table 4: Data description	25
Table 5: Feature range for outlier detection	
Table 6: The finalised set of features chosen for model building	36

List of Figures

Figure 1: The infectious and non-infectious relationship between SIRS, Sepsis, Severe
Sepsis, Septic shock, and MODS leading to death [12]1
Figure 2: Graphical representation of sepsis definitions from 1992 to 20162
Figure 3: Structure of a hexamer complex of a Toll-Like Receptor 4 and Myeloid
differentiation factor-2 attached to bacterial LPS [23]
Figure 4: The structure of the NLRP3 Inflammasome complex [27]4
Figure 5: Global Sepsis Statistics in 2017
Figure 6: Percentage of global sepsis-related deaths in 2017 age-category-wise
Figure 7: Sepsis Mortality, Incidence, Lethality from 2006 to 2015 in Brazil [49]8
Figure 8: Sepsis-related hospital admission and mortality in Spain [50]9
Figure 9: Comparison of Sensitivity and specificity among InSight, SIRS, Lactate, and
PCT tests [91]17
Figure 10: AUROC of InSight algorithm with other sepsis prediction methods [93].18
Figure 11: Architecture of AIDEx platform [95]19
Figure 12: AUROC of RF model with existing CDRs for sepsis detection [97]20
Figure 13: A hybrid CNN-LSTM model architecture for sepsis prediction [112]22
Figure 14: Structure of Smart Sepsis Predictor (SSP) tool [113]23
Figure 15: AUROC of LiSep LSTM and TREWScore [88]23
Figure 16: Overall methodology followed in this research project24
Figure 17: The proposed architecture of (a) LSTM and (b) GRU networks used in this
research project
Figure 18: A simple architecture of (a) LSTM and (b) GRU networks [143]32
Figure 19: Percentage of NaN values in the dataset
Figure 20: Missing value heatmap of the dataset
Figure 21: Correlation heatmap of the dataset
Figure 22: Boxplot for outlier detection
Figure 23: Patient count Age-wise in the dataset40
Figure 24: Patient count in the dataset Age-category-wise41
Figure 25: Patient count based on gender in the dataset
Figure 26: Septic and Non-septic patient count based on Gender
Figure 27: Patient count after ICULOS conditions

Figure 28: Septic and non-septic patient count in the final dataset
Figure 29: Gender-based Septic and Non-septic patient count in the final dataset45
Figure 30: Visual representation of working of FFILL-0 imputation method46
Figure 31: Model Training Loss. The x-axis represents the number of epochs, and the
y-axis shows the loss. (a) LSTM model training loss on MissForest imputed data
(0.1097). (b) LSTM model training loss on FFILL-0 imputed data (0.0854). (c) GRU
model training loss on MissForest imputed data (0.1225). (d) GRU model training loss
on FFILL-0 imputed data (0.1225)
Figure 32: Sepsis mortality risk calculation. (a) Patients with a low sepsis probability
and mortality risk. (b) Patients with a high sepsis probability and mortality risk49
Figure 33: ROC curve for LSTM and GRU models on MissForest and FFILL-0 imputed
data50

Abstract

Sepsis is the body's abnormal and dysregulated response to an infection due to septicaemia. It causes multiple organ damage, and eventually, the patient dies. The worldwide mortality ratio of sepsis is exceptionally high, with an estimated 11 million deaths according to 2017 global sepsis statistics. In Pakistan, an estimated 60-80% of intensive care unit (ICU) deaths are due to sepsis, which might reach 90% soon. Due to limited resources and inflation, early sepsis detection is imperative to lower mortality. Several machine learning-based sepsis prediction tools have been developed, and many studies have been conducted for sepsis prediction. However, these tools cannot predict sepsis as it is a time-series problem but treat it as a binary classification problem. Deeplearning (DL) algorithm-based methods can better deal with the time-series data due to their robustness, allowing better insights into the data and performance. Therefore, in this study, a novel DL-based approach is opted to forecast the sepsis mortality risk in ICU patients. MissForest and Last Observation Carried Forward (LOCF)-zero (FFILL-0) imputation methods were used to impute Not a Number (NaN) values (missing values) in the data, and the patient data was converted to fixed-length tensors, which were then used for model training and evaluation. Among the DL algorithms, Long short-term memory (LSTM) and Gated recurrent units (GRUs) were selected for model building. Finally, four models were trained on MissForest, and FFILL-0 imputed data, and to check the effectiveness, the models were evaluated on the hold-out datasets and the Area Under the Receiver Operating Characteristic curve (AUROC) was calculated for each model. LSTM model outperformed GRU, and the highest AUROC achieved in this study was 0.758. In short, DL algorithms can accurately forecast sepsis risk in ICU patients and can help reduce Intensive Care Unit Length of Stay (ICULOS) and sepsis mortality risk.

Introduction

1.1. Insights to sepsis

Sepsis is the earliest known illness that dates back to ancient Greeks, who defined sepsis as " $\sigma \tilde{\eta} \psi \iota \varsigma$ " or "putrefaction" [1, 2]. However, the modern context of sepsis is different. Sepsis is the lethal condition that ensues when the body fights against blood poisoning due to microbes, a condition called septicaemia [3]. The body's organs and tissues get damaged so much that it causes the individual's death [4]. The appropriate description of sepsis was ambiguous before 1991. Some researchers defined sepsis as a clinical syndrome, a systemic response to infection [5].

However, the Chicago consensus conference held in August of 1991 by the Society of Critical Care Medicine (SCCM) together with the American College of Chest Physicians (ACCP) specified the first definition of sepsis (Sepsis-1) as "The infection commencing the onset of SIRS". Furthermore, it defined SIRS as "Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome" [6, 7], and the SIRS criteria consist of heart rate (tachycardia), respiration rate (tachypnea), temperature (hyperthermia, hypothermia), and white blood cells (leukocytosis, leukopenia) [2, 5, 6, 8]. Sepsis is aggressive and deadly, and severe sepsis and septic shock are responsible for sepsis-related deaths.

Severe sepsis involves organ dysfunction, including hypotension and tissue hypoperfusion caused by sepsis. On the other hand, septic shock is sepsis with persistent hypoperfusion and hypotension even with fluid resuscitation [9, 10]. All these (SIRS, Sepsis, Severe Sepsis, Septic shock) along with Multiple Organ Dysfunction Syndrome (MODS) lead to the death of the patient [11] (Figure. 1).



Figure 1: The infectious and non-infectious relationship between SIRS, Sepsis, Severe Sepsis, Septic shock, and MODS leading to death [12]

However, the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESICM), ACCP, SCCM, the Surgical Infection Society (SIS), and the American Thoracic Society (ATS) revised the definition of sepsis (Sepsis-2) in the second consensus conference in 2001. They defined sepsis as the existence of two (or more) SIRS criteria concurrently with the infection [13]. The third consensus conference of 2016 reviewed the definition of Sepsis (Sepsis-3) and described sepsis as the dysregulated and escalated response of the host toward an infection [14, 15]. The consensus defined the Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) Score and introduced quick SOFA (qSOFA), the modified version of SOFA. In addition, it redefined sepsis based on SOFA and qSOFA instead of SIRS [16]. Figure 2 compares sepsis definitions described in the Surviving Sepsis Campaign Guidelines and consensus conferences [17].



Figure 2: Graphical representation of sepsis definitions from 1992 to 2016

The SOFA score criteria comprise of Respiratory system (Partial pressure of oxygen in the arterial blood (PaO₂), Fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO₂)), Nervous system (Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS)), Cardiovascular system (Mean Arterial Pressure (MAP) and Dopamine), Liver (Bilirubin), Coagulation (Platelets), and Kidneys (Creatinine) [8, 18]. Now, physicians and doctors worldwide mostly use qSOFA to diagnose septic patients quickly. qSOFA criteria are Respiration rate, GCS, and Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP) [8].

1.1. Pathophysiology of Sepsis

When pathogens enter the host (patient) body, the patient's defence mechanism is activated, which protects against the microbes [19]. The most prevalent infectious sites for the onset of sepsis are the urinary tract, bloodstream, lungs, and abdominal cavity [14]. Immune cells like monocytes, macrophages, Natural Killer (NK) Cells, and neutrophils are released that attacks the invading pathogens [20]. How these cells recognise and attack only the invading pathogens is a fascinating capability of the immune system. On the surface of these immune cells are specialised receptor molecules called Pattern-Recognition Receptors (PRRs), such as Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs), Nucleotide-binding oligomerisation domain-like (NOD-like) receptors, Retinoic acid-inducible gene-1-like (RIG-1-like) receptors, and C-type lectin receptors [20-22]. Figure 3 shows the structure of a TLR type 4 and Myeloid differentiation factor-2 (MD-2) complex, which is bound to bacterial Lipopolysaccharide (LPS).



Figure 3: Structure of a hexamer complex of a Toll-Like Receptor 4 and Myeloid differentiation factor-2 attached to bacterial LPS [23]

When pathogens enter the host body, they release some molecules known as Pathogen-Associated Molecular Patterns (PAMPs), such as β -glucans (in the case of fungi), bacterial endotoxins, Deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA), flagellin, Lysophosphatidic acid (LPA), LPS, and superantigens like Streptococcal Pyrogenic Exotoxin (SPE) and double or single-stranded viral Ribonucleic acid (RNA). [20, 21, 24, 25]. PRRs recognise these PAMPs and activate innate immune cell responses. Immune cells interact with pathogens, phagocytise them, and sometimes get damaged or killed during the encounter, thus releasing alarmins or Damage/Danger-Associated Molecular Patterns (DAMPs) such as heat-shock proteins, High-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1), histones, lipoproteins, Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), and Adenosine

triphosphate (ATP) molecules. PAMPs and DAMPs, when recognised by PRRs on immune cells, activate signalling pathways within the immune cells [22], resulting in the production of pro-inflammatory proteins known as Cytokines, like Interleukin-6 (IL-6), Interleukin-1 (IL-1), and Tumour Necrosis Factor- α (TNF- α), which promote inflammation.

TNF- α is one of the earliest releasing cytokines during the onset of sepsis [25]. Aggregated NOD-like receptors (Inflammasomes) (Figure. 4) produce cytokines (caspases, Interleukin-18 (IL-18), and Interleukin-1-beta (IL-1 β)) that participate in apoptosis. Pro-inflammatory cytokines are responsible for the activation of leucocytes, production of tissue factors, Nitric oxide release, inhibition of fibrinolysis, and decrease in thrombomodulin. Conversely, anti-inflammatory cytokines impede inflammation by hindering pro-inflammatory cytokine functions [25]. Pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines cancel each other's effects [26], thus maintaining the balance in the body. However, the excessive production of pro-inflammatory cytokines along with cellular dysfunction disrupts this balance in case of sepsis.



Figure 4: The structure of the NLRP3 Inflammasome complex [27].

When the infection is severe, immature neutrophils are released by bone marrow through the short maturation of granulocytes, consequently exhibiting decreased oxidative burst and phagocytosis capability [24]. Also, Lymphocytes undergo apoptosis because they lose their ability to produce cytokines owing to the overproduction of Complement factor 5a (C5a) protein due to infection [28] and thus exhibit reduced

function [29]. The endothelium plays a crucial role in sepsis pathophysiology. It releases pro-inflammatory cytokines and recruits inflammatory cells.

In addition, endothelium vasodilation, leucocyte adhesion, and barrier functionality loss result in tissue oedema [30]. Furthermore, the loss of anticoagulant function due to cytokine storm stimulates coagulation [24]. Antithrombin deficiency causes prolonged blood clotting, and Disseminated Intravascular Coagulation (DIC) is evident in cases of sepsis [26, 29]. Bacterial endotoxins or LPS induce apoptosis in the endothelium, leading to microvascular thrombosis due to the release of intracellular histones. This abnormality of excessive bleeding and clotting favours coagulopathy and increases mortality risk [31].

Moreover, endothelium also produces nitric oxide and its production upsurges due to the pro-inflammatory cytokines. This unregulated nitric oxide release results in vasodilation [32], which results in hypotension [33]. Peroxynitrite and nitric oxide are also accountable for endothelial mitochondrial dysfunction and cause cellular and tissue hypoxia because of poor oxygen utilisation [34, 35]. Due to hypoxia, Red Blood Cells (RBCs) release nitric oxide and promote vasodilation and perfusion of blood vessels. RBCs also become rigid, and they aggregate. Also, leucocytes produce Reactive oxygen species (ROS) that destroy cellular interactions and coagulation function, leading to oedema and cellular distress [35]. These phenomena fail multiple vital organs – a condition called Multiple Organ Failure Syndrome (MOFS) or MODS [36, 37].

Lungs are the first organ affected in MODS due to capillary leakage and alveolar flooding, followed by myocardial dysfunction due to excessive nitric oxide production. The third organ most affected in MODS is the kidneys because of catecholamine production, even after fluid resuscitation [38]. The neurological dysfunction due to MODS is polyneuropathy and polymyopathy because of hyperglycaemia and bacteraemia. Also, gastrointestinal system dysfunction due to MODS can be pancreatitis and ulcers [39]. In sepsis, MODS-related multiple organ dysfunction increases the in-hospital mortality risk and causes the patient's death [36, 37].

1.4. Challenges

Due to the unavailability of local patient data from the Pakistani population till now, no study has been published on sepsis prediction and forecasting based on Pakistani data. Thus, this study is limited to using open-source patient data from the United States of America (USA) population.

1.5. Problem Statement

The currently used predictive algorithm-based tools for predicting sepsis in patients predict sepsis as binary classification of "Yes" (septic patient) and "No" (non-septic patient) as in at one instance the patient might classify as septic and later the same might be classified as non-septic. However, when a patient is admitted to the hospital, the data is collected over regular time intervals (primarily hourly base), thus making it a time-series analysis and problem, and simple prediction-based tools for sepsis detection are not suitable. Thus, this study uses time series forecasting to predict the probability of sepsis occurring.

1.6. Proposed Strategy

Forecasting sepsis using Deep Learning (DL) algorithms is efficient because DL algorithms work best with time-series data. As a result, time series forecasting is used in this study to deal with the data. This technique will accurately assess a patient's risk for sepsis and minimise in-hospital patient mortality and ICULOS.

1.7. Objectives

Following are the objectives of this research:

- 1. To find out the appropriate Deep Learning models for sepsis forecasting.
- 2. To select the best features for building the sepsis forecasting model.
- 3. To prepare and pre-process the data for model building.
- 4. To develop, optimize, and evaluate the sepsis forecasting model.

Literature Review

2.1. Sepsis Epidemiology

Sepsis is lethal and has a high mortality and morbidity ratio globally. The epidemiological study conducted in the USA in the 1990s by the Centres for Disease Control (CDC) on sepsis using hospital data revealed that from 1979 to 1989, the sepsis rate per 100,000 patients increased from 73.6 to 175.9 [40]. Per the 2019 Global Sepsis Alliance, 60-80% of ICU deaths in Pakistan are due to sepsis [41], which might approach 90% soon [42]. According to the 2017 study [43] (Figure. 5), 48.9 million people were diagnosed with sepsis globally, and 11 million died, representing 20% worldwide deaths.



Figure 5: Global Sepsis Statistics in 2017.

Sepsis and severe sepsis put an estimated burden of 17 billion dollars annually in the USA [44], 36.4 million dollars to 72.9 million dollars in Canada [45], and 2.16 billion dollars in Australia [46]. The rate of sepsis varies age-wise, and the average age of sepsis patients is allegedly between 55 to 68 years, and it is more common in men than women [44, 47]. The rate of sepsis is 5 per 1000 patients in infants, <5 per 1000 patients in children, and 15 per 1000 patients in octogenarians. In sexagenarian patients, 58% of sepsis cases and 71% of sepsis-related deaths are reported in developed countries [48].

Also, a study conducted in 2017 [43] acknowledged that the percentage of agerelated sepsis deaths from infections or injuries worldwide fluctuates among individuals. It surged in early infancy, plunged amongst young adults, and spiked again among mature adults (Figure. 6).



Figure 6: Percentage of global sepsis-related deaths in 2017 age-category-wise

Over the past decade, the sepsis mortality rate decreased in high-income countries, but the mortality rate in middle- and low-income countries has increased. For example, septic patients in ICU in Brazil has a mortality rate of 55.7% [42]. In Brazil, from 2006 to 2015, there was a spike of 50% in sepsis incidence from 31.5 to 47.4 per 100,000 people and a spike of 85% in sepsis mortality from 13.3 to 24.6 per 100,000 people (Figure. 7).



Figure 7: Sepsis Mortality, Incidence, Lethality from 2006 to 2015 in Brazil [49]

From 2000 to 2013 in Spain, sepsis-related in-hospital deaths increased from 18% to 29%, and sepsis-related hospital admissions increased from 3.6% to 5.8% (Figure. 8).



Figure 8: Sepsis-related hospital admission and mortality in Spain [50]

2.2. Assessment of Sepsis

Regardless of the top-notch healthcare system worldwide, sepsis assessment is still complicated. Early sepsis evaluation is the key to saving the patient's life. Nevertheless, diagnosing sepsis is challenging due to non-infectious inflammation in the body. So, physicians relied on using biomarkers to properly diagnose the patient as septic or non-septic [51].

A biomarker characterises a biological entity that anticipates the outcomes of a standard or abnormal process (like a disease) inside humans that is difficult to observe [52]. The use of biomarkers is extensive to diagnose heart-related issues, immune disorders, infections, disease screening and monitoring, drug reaction prediction, identification of cell types, measuring drug efficacy in clinical trials, and studying tumours and cancers [52, 53].

Proteins like C-reactive protein (CRP), Procalcitonin (PCT), IL-6, Soluble form of Triggering Receptor Expressed on Myeloid cells-1 (sTREM-1), Lipopolysaccharide-Binding Protein (LBP), Soluble form of Urokinase Plasminogen Activator Receptor (suPAR), Proadrenomedullin (Pro-ADM), Soluble form of Cluster of Differentiation 14 subtype (sCD14-ST) or presepsin, Pro-atrial natriuretic peptide (pro-ANP), Interferon-γ (IFN-γ), resistin, Interleukin-27 (IL-27), Angiopoietin-1 (Ang-1) and Angiopoietin-2 (Ang-2), antibodies like Mannan (M), Antimannan (AM), Lactate, noncoding RNAs like MicroRNAs (miRNAs), Circular RNAs (circRNAs), Long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs) are the potential biomarkers used to diagnose sepsis [54-56].

Among these biomarkers, PCT, CRP, IL-6, and Lactate are widely used for sepsis diagnosis [57, 58]. Doctors use different scoring systems and criteria for sepsis diagnosis when patients are admitted to the ICU after an accident or surgery. They order Food and Drug Administration-approved (FDA-approved) lab tests such as PCT, Lactate, CRP, and Cytokines to confirm whether the patient is septic or non-septic [59]. Although these lab tests are efficient enough to diagnose sepsis properly, some of these tests take time.

Patients with septic shock have an 8% increase in mortality each passing hour if there is any delay in administering antibiotics to the patients [60]. So, doctors use qSOFA and National Early Warning Score 2 (NEWS2) alongside SOFA and SIRS to quickly check a patient's mortality risk and ensure the timely administration of antibiotics [61]. Following is the detail of the scoring systems with their criteria:

2.2.1. SIRS

If a patient meets two (or more) out of these four SIRS criteria, their condition is said to be sepsis [8]:

- Tachycardia Heart rate greater than 90 beats per minute
- Tachypnea Respiration rate of more than 20 breaths/minute
- Hyperthermia or Hypothermia Temperature more than 38°C or less than 36°C
- Leukocytosis or Leukopenia Abnormal White blood cells (WBCs) count of more than 12,000/mL or less than 4000/mL

2.2.2. SOFA

Table 1 represents the SOFA criteria [8]. Each organ system or variable that comprises SOFA is given a score from "0" to "4".

Organ System /	SOFA Score						
Variable	0	1	2	3	4		
Respiration PaO2 mmHg FiO2 (kPa)	> 400	< 400	< 300	< 200 with respirator y support	< 100 with respiratory support		
Coagulation Platelets, 10 ³ / mm ³	> 150	< 150	< 100	< 50	< 20		
Liver Bilirubin (mg/dL)	<102	1.2 - 1.9	2.0 - 5.9	6.0 - 11.9	> 12.0		
Cardiovascular	MAP ≥ 70 mmHg	MAP < 70 mmHg	Dopamine < 5 or Dobutami ne (any dose)	Dopamine 5.1 - 15 or Epinephri $ne \le 0.1$ or Norepinep hrine \le 0.1	Dopamine > 15 or Epinephrine > 0.1 or Norepinephrine > 0.1		
Central Nervous System GCS	15	13 - 14	10 - 12	6 - 9	< 6		
Renal Creatinine (mg/dL)	< 1.2	1.2 - 1.9	2.0 - 3.4	3.5 - 4.9 < 500	> 5.0 < 200		

Table 1: Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score [8]

A SOFA score of "0" means normal, and a SOFA score of "4" means exceptionally abnormal. The score is calculated for each variable separately based on that variable's value, and a patient with a combined SOFA score of 2 or more is considered septic with organ dysfunction [13] and needs immediate care.

2.2.3. qSOFA

A patient with a qSOFA score of 2 or more indicates sepsis and organ dysfunction [8, 62] and needs urgent care; otherwise, there is a mortality risk for the patient. qSOFA criteria are shown in Table 2.

Table 2: Quick Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (qSOFA) score

qSOFA score criteria	Score
<i>Respiration Rate</i> ≥ 22 <i>per minute</i>	1
Level of Consciousness (GCS)	1
SBP ≤ 100 mmHg	1

2.2.4. NEWS2

In 2012, the Royal College of Physicians of London (RCPL) proposed a National Early Warning Score (NEWS) composed of six vital signs: Respiration Rate, Oxygen Saturation, Temperature, SBP, Heart Rate, and GCS. Each vital sign is assigned a score from 0 - 3.

Later in 2017, RCPL proposed NEWS2, a modified version of NEWS. The modifications were made in each vital sign score weightage [63]. Table 3 shows the NEWS2 criteria [64]. A score is assigned to each vital sign value, and a combined score of 5 or more indicates sepsis and the patient needs urgent care.

Vital Sign / Parameter	NEWS2 Score							
	3	2	1	0	1	2	3	
Respiration (bpm)	<i>≤8</i>		9 - 11	12 - 20		21 - 24	≥25	
SpO2 Scale 1 (%)	<i>≤91</i>	92 - 93	94 - 95	≥96				
SpO2 Scale 2 (%)	<i>≤83</i>	84 - 85	86 - 87	88 - 92 ≥93 on air	93 - 94 on oxygen	95 - 96 on oxygen	≥97 on oxygen	
Air or Oxygen?		Oxygen		Air				
SBP (mmHg)	≤90	91 - 100	101 - 110	111 - 219			≥220	
Pulse / HR (per minute)	≤40		41 - 50	51 - 90	91 - 110	111 - 130	≥131	
Consciousness				Alert			CVPU	
Temperature (°C)	≤35.0		35.1 - 36.0	36.1 - 38.0	38.1 - 39.0	≥ <i>39.1</i>		

Table 3: National Early Warning Score 2 (NEWS2) [64]

2.3. Invasive methods based sepsis detection

The microbial infection is the *sine qua non* for sepsis [65], and the earliest symptom of sepsis observed in hospital patients is fever [66]. Initially, researchers focused on early sepsis detection based on biomarkers using blood cultures (BC). Martin *et al.* [67] studied IL-6 and TNF- α patterns in critically ill patients. Their study involved 60 patients with multiple trauma and 25 septic shock patients without trauma. The serum concentrations of these cytokines were studied, and they reported that septic shock patients have a high concentration of both TNF- α and IL-6 and high mortality risk. Moreover, higher IL-6 concentrations in trauma patients are linked to the onset of nosocomial infections, which can lead to sepsis.

BC is the most effective way to detect the pathogens inside a patient's blood. However, specific BC conditions are required for the pathogen to grow, making them tedious [68]. Ziqi *et al.* [69] conducted a study on ICU patients from the Chinese population to lower the time a BC-based patient lab report takes. Patients were divided into two groups; Laboratory Blood Culture (LBC), BCs cultured within the hospital microbiology lab, and Satellite Blood Culture (SBC), BCs cultured at the collection site, typically in the ICU. The authors reported no considerable difference between the BC protocol of these two groups. However, the culture time was significantly shorter for SBC than for LBC.

Lodes *et al.* [70] evaluated SeptiFast (SF), a multiplex real-time Polymerase Chain Reaction based (PCR-based) sepsis detection kit for early detection of pathogens in abdominal sepsis patients' blood. Blood samples were taken from surgical ICU (SICU) patients in Germany, and 77 pathogens were identified. Out of which, BC confirmed 25 pathogens. Therefore, it is concluded that PCR-based sepsis detection is a suitable method for helping doctors better care for patients. Christian *et al.* [71] also used SF for sepsis diagnosis based on BC. Data from 258 sick patients were collected from the Italy population, and the purpose of the study was to get a higher probability of pathogen detection.

Instead of using BC-based methods, which are time-consuming, or PCR-based methods, which might fail due to abundant human DNA and low pathogenic DNA in the samples, Trung *et al.* [68] developed Sepsis@Quick – a sepsis diagnosis kit. This kit helps in the real-time removal of human DNA from the PCR samples and can detect more pathogens in blood samples than BC-based or other PCR-based methods. Another sepsis detection kit was developed by Zhang Ye *et al.* [72]. Blood samples were obtained from critically ill patients, and sepsis was diagnosed based on Cluster of Differentiation 64 (CD64) expression measurement using the microfluidic cell separation device. This sepsis chip is cost-effective, and the approach is proven precise for sepsis detection.

Christopher *et al.* [73] introduced a mechanism for the detection of IL-6 electrochemically. They developed a needle-shaped microelectrode for real-time detection of IL-6 to diagnose sepsis in the affected person. Moreover, Zupančič *et al.* [74] developed a graphene oxide nanoparticle-based multi-biomarker detection sensor

system, which can detect PCT, CRP, and PAMPs simultaneously. This system can quickly achieve parallel detection of multiple biomarkers from whole blood, which is otherwise challenging in electrochemical systems [75]. A bioinformatics-based study for finding biomarkers associated with sepsis was carried out by Jianhua *et al.* [76]. The microarray data were obtained from Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) database, and differentially expressed genes (DEGs) were identified. Many DEGs were involved in the cell cycle and activation of neutrophils, and genes like Tripartite Motif Containing 25 (TRIM25), MYC, and Ring Finger Protein 4 (RNF4) were identified as potential DEGs critical biomarkers for sepsis.

2.4. Non-Invasive methods based sepsis detection

However, blood culture-based detection usually takes 12-72 hours [73], and a one-hour delay increases mortality risk by 6-10% [60, 77]. So, researchers focused on more reliable ways to detect sepsis. Nguyen *et al.* [78] evaluated the accuracy and performance of an automated Electronic Medical Report (EMR) system for sepsis detection in the emergency department (ED) of hospitals. This system collects data like vital signs and lab tests of all patients in ED and generates an alert for sepsis based on SIRS. Out of 795 sepsis alerts, 355 were actual alerts for sepsis. Among these alerts, 38% were for patients with respiratory tract infections, and 32.7% were for urinary tract infections. The EMR system also generated false sepsis alerts for patients with trauma and heart-related issues.

SIRS, qSOFA and NEWS are the best tools for sepsis diagnosis. A statistical analysis-based study was conducted by Usman *et al.* [79], who performed a retrospective study to compare SIRS, qSOFA, and NEWS to detect severe sepsis and septic shock. Data was obtained from ED, and they calculated AUROC, sensitivity, and specificity. NEWS was the most accurate scoring system than SIRS or qSOFA. In terms of sensitivity, NEWS achieved similar sensitivity 84.2% (Confidence Interval (CI): 81.5% - 86.5%) to SIRS 86.1% (CI: 83.6% - 88.2%) as it is based on vital signs only. However, qSOFA is a poor choice for sepsis diagnosis for ED patients, with a sensitivity of 28.5% (CI: 25.6% - 31.7%). Brink *et al.* [80] also compared the SIRS, qSOFA, and NEWS for sepsis detection in ED patients. They carried out a retrospective study using a total of 8204 patients. 3.5% (286) patients died within ten days of ICU admission, and 6% (490) died within 30 days after ICU admission. AUC was calculated for 10-days and 30-days. Ten days AUC achieved for NEWS is 0.837, qSOFA 0.744,

and SIRS 0.646. Similarly, 30 days AUC achieved for NEWS is 0.779, qSOFA 0.697, and SIRS 0.631. NEWS outperformed qSOFA and SIRS in predicting ten days and 30 days of patient mortality in ED.

Another statistics-based study was carried out by Shashikumar *et al.* [81]. They included vital signs like Heart Rate (HR), Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP), Mean Arterial Pressure (MAP), Oxygen Saturation (O_2Sat), Diastolic Blood Pressure (DBP), Respiration Rate (Resp), GCS, and Temperature (Temp) as essential features in their study. Using a multivariate modelling approach for early sepsis detection in ICU patients, they concluded that blood pressure and HR dynamics are valuable predictors for detecting sepsis four hours before the onset. Also, AUROC increased from 0.67 to 0.78 when demographics and other data like surgical history were added to the model.

2.4.1. Machine learning based Sepsis detection

Early detection of sepsis is the key to minimising in-hospital patient mortality. However, relying only on invasive methods is not a good approach, even though BC, PCR, and biomarkers-based studies are proven reliable for sepsis detection. Noninvasive methods are more efficient than invasive methods [82]. Relying only on continuously available vital signs and incorporating Machine Learning (ML) algorithms is another way to diagnose sepsis effectively. There is a gradual increase in the use of ML for disease prediction due to improved algorithms that enable the early detection of deadly diseases and helps doctors control patient mortality [83-85].

Various ML techniques such as Supervised Learning (SL), Unsupervised Learning (UL), Reinforcement Learning (RL), and Deep Learning (DL) are used for disease prediction [86]. In addition, algorithms such as Neural Networks (NN), k-Nearest Neighbours (k-NN), Logistic Regression (LR), Support Vector Machine (SVM), and Gradient boosting have been used for sepsis detection [87-89]. Islam *et al.* [90] performed a meta-analysis to evaluate ML models' performance with available scoring systems used for sepsis prediction. They did an extensive literature review using electronic databases like Google Scholar, PubMed, and others. They found out that out of 135 studies, only 7 met their inclusion criteria based on the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analysis (PRISMA). 3-4 hours before the onset of sepsis, ML models achieved the pooled AUROC of 0.89, the sensitivity of 0.81, and specificity of 0.72, as compared to pooled AUROC of SIRS (0.70), Modified Early

Warning System (MEWS) (0.50), and SOFA (0.78). So, ML-based sepsis detection methods proved to be more efficient than other scoring system-based methods.

Jacob *et al.* [91] developed *InSight*, an efficient tool for sepsis detection ahead of time, typically up to three hours. They trained the model using Medical Information Mart for Intensive Care (MIMIC) data. *InSight* achieved an AUROC of 0.83, a sensitivity of 0.90, and a specificity of 0.81 when tested on unseen data (test data). It outperformed biomarker-based methods for sepsis detection. Figure 9 compares the specificity and sensitivity of *InSight* and other sepsis detection methods.



Figure 9: Comparison of Sensitivity and specificity among InSight, SIRS, Lactate, and PCT tests [91]

Qingqinq *et al.* [92] evaluated the performance of the *InSight* tool by using data from the University of California, San Francisco (UCSF) for training and MIMIC data for transfer learning. *InSight* is based on a gradient tree boosting algorithm and uses only six vital signs as features with one outcome and achieved AUROC of 0.92 for sepsis and 0.87 for severe sepsis. Also, it achieved an AUROC of 0.85 for severe sepsis and 0.96 for septic shock four hours before the onset of sepsis. This method is prone to NaN values in the data and can outperform other sepsis detection algorithms.

Desautels *et al.* [93] also used the *InSight* algorithm and compared it with other sepsis detection tools and scoring systems. Using MIMIC-III data, they trained the model and calculated the AUROC on the hold-out dataset. Figure 10 compares the AUROC of *InSight* with other methods. It is evident that for sepsis onset, *InSight* achieved the highest AUROC (0.88), MEWS (0.803), qSOFA (0.77), SOFA (0.73), SAPS-II (0.70), and SIRS (0.61). Moreover, when 60% of the input data was randomly deleted, *InSight* outperformed other methods and attained an AUROC of 0.781.



Figure 10: AUROC of InSight algorithm with other sepsis prediction methods [93]

Nemati *et al.* [94] developed an Artificial Intelligent Sepsis Expert (AISE) algorithm based on Weibull Cox proportional hazards (WCPH) model. Time-series data from two different hospitals of Emory University was used for model training, and MIMIC data was used to validate the model. A total of 65 features were used in the model building, and AISE predicted sepsis onset before 4, 6, 8, and 12 hours of clinical confirmation, achieving AUROC of 0.83 to 0.85. This system can predict the onset of sepsis ahead of time. Another important AISE-based sepsis detection platform is Artificial Intelligence Decompensation Expert (AIDEx) (Figure. 11), designed by Amrollahi *et al.* [95]. The platform consists of three modules: The first module consists
of Healthcare Application Programming Interface (API) linked to EMR data. The second module consists of a Data Wrangler, MongoDB, and AIDEx APIs. Inside AIDEx API, a sepsis predictor algorithm (AISE) predicts the sepsis, and the results are stored in the MongoDB database. Finally, the third module hosts a graphical user interface (GUI) dashboard, which shows the prediction results.



Figure 11: Architecture of AIDEx platform [95]

Likewise, Goh *et al.* [96] developed a Sepsis Early Risk Assessment (SERA) algorithm for early sepsis prediction. This study used two data types: Structured and Unstructured data. Structured data consisted of vital signs, patient treatment history, and Investigations. Similarly, unstructured data consisted of notes like patient recovery progress, medication, and ICU consultation, made by nurses or doctors. LR and RF models were trained and evaluated on validation data based on the ensemble method for model training. SERA achieved an AUROC of 0.94 with 0.87 sensitivity and specificity. It also reduced false positives by 17% and increased early detection of sepsis up to 32%, compared to doctors' confirmation of sepsis.

Taylor *et al.* [97] performed a retrospective study on ED patients and proposed a novel sepsis prediction model which outperformed available clinical decision rules (CDR) models for sepsis detection. They predicted in-hospital patient mortality using a Random Forest-based (RF-based) model. A total of 500 features, including demographics, lab reports, medication history, vital signs, ED diagnosis, patients' history, and nursing interventions, were involved, and an 80-20 split ratio was used for model training and validation. Finally, model results were compared with other ML models and sepsis prediction tools, including the Logistic Regression (LR) model, Confusion, Uremia, Respiratory Rate, Blood Pressure, Age > 65 years (CURB-65), Mortality in Emergency Department Sepsis (MEDS), Modified Rapid Emergency Medicine Score (mREMS), and Classification And Regression Tree (CART) in terms of AUROC. RF model achieved highest AUROC (0.86) as compared to LR (0.76), CURB-65 (0.73), mREMS (0.72), MEDS (0.71), and CART (0.69) (Figure. 12).



Figure 12: AUROC of RF model with existing CDRs for sepsis detection [97]

Hou *et al.* [98] developed an XGboost-based ML model to predict 30-day mortality for sepsis patients using MIMIC-III data. The model was trained on 4559 patients, and they compared their model with LR and SAPS-II score-based prediction models. Among them, the XGboost-based model achieved the highest AUROC (0.857) as compared to SAPS-II (0.797) and LR (0.819). Thus, the model was capable of predicting 30-day patient mortality. The Separatrix team of Zabihi *et al.* [99] scored third in the PhysioNet Cardiology Challenge 2019 for sepsis detection. They proposed an XGboost-based ensemble model to predict sepsis and achieved a utility score of 0.339 on hold-out data.

Li *et al.* [100] also used PhysioNet data to make a Time-Phased ML model for sepsis prediction, using LightGBM as a candidate algorithm. Through feature engineering, a total of 312 features were generated out of 40 available clinical variables present in the data, which were used for model training, and achieved the utility score of 0.354 when the model was evaluated on the test data. The Sepsis ReSepsion team

[101] also participated in this challenge and achieved a utility score of 0.076 with their DL-based Convolutional Long Short-Term Memory Neural Network (CNN-LSTM) algorithm.

Although ML-based methods can efficiently and effectively predict sepsis, they can fail to detect sepsis properly. Habib *et al.* [102] reported such incidence in their work. They studied Epic Sepsis Model (ESM) – a tool for sepsis detection based on Electronic Healthcare Record (EHR) data. As per the developers of ESM, it achieved an AUROC of 0.76-0.83. Nevertheless, when the tool was tested, it failed to detect 67% of septic patients and only generated alerts for 18% of patients. Also, the AUROC achieved was only 0.63, which was way too low, as claimed by developers.

Topiwala *et al.* [103] examined the *InSight* tool for identifying sepsis by carrying out a retrospective study and proposed that the tool failed to identify a significant number of positive sepsis cases. Out of 269 sepsis cases, *InSight* generated positive alerts for 77 cases with a sensitivity of 28.6%, of which six alerts were generated prior to clinical suspicion. Moreover, *InSight* generated 126 false positive alerts for Diabetes, Gastrointestinal Bleeding, End-Stage Renal Disease, Hypertension, and Alcoholic Cirrhosis.

However, the EHR data is a time series that doctors or nurses collect and maintain regularly [104]. Furthermore, many studies have proved that DL algorithms can better work with time-series data [105-109]. Many researchers used DL for sepsis detection and proposed various tools. Shashikumar *et al.* [110] proposed a DL-based sepsis detection tool Conformal Multidimensional Prediction of Sepsis Risk (COMPOSER). The primary purpose of this tool is to reduce the number of false alerts for sepsis. Instead of labelling these alerts as final, it marks them as intermediate, thus reducing the false predictions. They trained a DL model based on 515,720 ICU and ED patients from the USA population. Finally, the COMPOSER achieved AUROC of 0.925-0.953 in ICU patients and 0.938-0.945 in ED patients. Moreover, 20% of intermediate alerts were generated for non-septic patients and 8% for septic patients.

Another important DL-based sepsis detection method Deep Artificial Intelligence Sepsis Expert (DeepAISE), was introduced by Shashikumar *et al.* [111]. They used data from two cohorts: the Emory cohort, which incorporates ICU data from two hospitals, and the MIMIC cohort, which has MIMIC-III data. The Emory cohort data were used for model training, and the MIMIC cohort data was used to evaluate the model performance. DeepAISE is based on Gated Recurrent Units (GRU) and WCPH methods to predict sepsis. In addition, this model can learn the data's temporal patterns and essential features present in the dataset. When tested, DeepAISE achieved an AUROC of 0.90, and it can generate real-time sepsis predictions.

Lauritsen *et al.* [112] proposed a hybrid DL model (Figure. 13) based on CNN-LSTM for sepsis detection and classification. The study is based on 3126 patients' data from the Danish population. The input data goes to five convolutional layers in the model architecture and is processed within. Lastly, the output goes to the LSTM layer that outputs the final prediction for sepsis. The model evaluation shows that it achieved the AUROC of 0.856 and 0.756 three hours and 24 hours before the onset of sepsis. Furthermore, this model outperformed gradient-boosting algorithms for sepsis prediction, as it can efficiently work with time-series data.



Figure 13: A hybrid CNN-LSTM model architecture for sepsis prediction [112]

Another similar LSTM-CNN hybrid model approach for sepsis detection was used by Rafiei *et al.* [113], who proposed Smart Sepsis Predictor (SSP), which is an early sepsis prediction tool (Figure. 14). The study is based on the PhysioNet Cardiology Challenge 2019 data. SSP hosts two modes. Mode 1 works by using vital signs along with patients' demographics, and mode 2 includes laboratory tests alongside vital signs and demographics. After processing the data per the inclusion criteria, data is fed to the Deep Network block. Inside this block are the LSTM and Convolutional Neural Networks (CNN) model layers alongside dense layers. The data goes through the layers, and the final probabilities are calculated. Finally, sepsis probability is calculated based on the pre-defined probability threshold. To evaluate the model, AUROC was calculated for each mode. The SSP achieved 0.89 AUROC for mode 1 and 0.92 for mode two, four hours before sepsis onset.



Figure 14: Structure of Smart Sepsis Predictor (SSP) tool [113]

Henry *et al.* [114] developed a Targeted Real-time Early Warning Score (TREWScore) system for septic shock prediction, which predicted septic shock patients with an AUROC of 0.83 before septic shock onset. Fagerström *et al.* [88] proposed a LiSep LSTM septic shock prediction tool based on the LSTM model. The study is based on the MIMIC-III data and incorporates vital signs and lab values as model-building features. The model achieved the AUROC of 0.8306 (Figure. 15) and can outperform other models like *InSight* and TREWScore with high confidence intervals.



Figure 15: AUROC of LiSep LSTM and TREWScore [88]

Methodology

This study aims to find an optimal way to forecast sepsis and its risk using DL, eventually helping doctors and health care specialists control mortality and ICULOS. The overall methodology followed in this research project to achieve this goal is provided in figure 16.



Figure 16: Overall methodology followed in this research project

3.1. Data Collection

The data is collected from the PhysioNet Challenge 2019 [115], consisting of ICU patients from two US hospitals. The data of hospital A contains 20,336 patients, and the data of hospital B includes 20,000 patients. Each patient file is a pipe-separated value (PSV) file with ".psv extension" and consists of 41 variables: eight vital signs, 26 laboratory values, six demographics, and one outcome variable (Table 4). The outcome variable is "SepsisLabel", in which "0" indicates "no sepsis" and "1" means "sepsis". Variable values having NaN indicate no measurement was taken for the corresponding variable at that time interval.

Vital Signs	
HR	Heart rate (bpm)
O ₂ Sat	Oxygen Saturation (%)
Temp	Temperature (°C)
SBP	Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)
MAP	Mean arterial pressure (mmHg)
DBP	Diastolic Blood Pressure (mmHg)
Resp	Respiration rate (breaths per minute)
EtCO2	End-tidal carbon dioxide (mmHg)
Laboratory Values	
BaseExcess	The measure of excess bicarbonate (mmol/L)
HCO3	Bicarbonate (mmol/L)
FiO2	Fraction of inspired oxygen (%)
рН	N/A
PaCO2	The partial pressure of carbon dioxide from arterial blood (mmHg)
SaO2	Oxygen Saturation in arterial blood (%)
AST	Aspartate transaminase (IU/L)
BUN	Blood urea nitrogen (mg/dL)
Alkalinephos	Alkaline phosphate (IU/L)
Calcium	mg/dL
Chloride	mmol/L
Creatinine	mg/dL
Bilirubin_direct	mg/dL
Glucose	Serum glucose (mg/dL)
Lactate	Lactic acid (mg/dL)
Magnesium	mmol/L
Phosphate	mg/dL
Potassium	mmol/L
Bilirubin_total	mg/dL
TroponinI	Troponin I (ng/mL)

Table 4: Data description

Hct	Hematocrit (%)
Hgb	Haemoglobin (g/dL)
PTT	Partial thromboplastin time (seconds)
WBC	White blood cell count (count*10^3/µL)
Fibrinogen	mg/dL
Platelets	count*10^3/µL
Demographics	
Age	In years
Gender	Male (1) and Female (0)
Unit1	Medical ICU
Unit2	Surgical ICU
HospAdmTime	Hours between hospital admission and ICU admission
ICULOS	Hours since ICU admission
Outcome	
SepsisLabel	Sepsis patients (1) and non-sepsis patients (0)

3.2. Data Preparation

As the data from two different hospitals is in the form of individual patient files (.psv files), it must be combined into a single file for the research. Each PSV file is converted to a single comma-separated value (CSV) file using the Python language "glob" function [116] and "for loop" [117]. Also, each patient is assigned a unique Patient ID (P_ID) during the process. The CSV file format is preferred because it is the most commonly used and user-friendly [118, 119].

3.3. Python libraries

Instead of writing the code from scratch, built-in Python libraries are used to conduct the research. Following are some essential libraries used in this study:

- OS [120]: This module allows dealing with directories.
- Random [120]: This module allows the creation of random numbers.
- Pandas [121]: This library is used for data analysis and manipulation.
- NumPy [122]: This library allows one to work with arrays.

- Seaborn [123]: Data visualisation library that allows the creation of beautiful graphs.
- Matplotlib [124]: This library creates static plots and graphs.
- Tqdm [125]: This library allows the creation of progress bars.
- Sklearn [126]: An ML library for classification, regression, and clustering algorithms.
- MissForest [127]: This is an ML-based missing value imputation method.
- itertools [128]: This library allows permutations and combinations.
- TensorFlow [129]: An open-source platform for building ML models.
- Keras [130]: This library allows for the training and develop DL models and is built on top of TensorFlow.

3.4. Data Pre-processing and Exploratory Data Analysis (EDA)

The most crucial phase of an ML-based study is how the data is pre-processed [131] because well pre-processed and cleaned data ensures the desired output of an ML or DL model. Also, EDA analysis was performed on the data to check for patterns and missing values using plots and graphs. Below are some of the steps performed in this study for data pre-processing and EDA.

3.4.1. Dealing with Missing values

A data frame is created after importing required packages and libraries [132]. After creating a data frame, the first step is checking for missing values (NaN values) inside the data. If NaN values present in the data are deleted, there is a risk of losing critical information, and if the ML (or DL) model is trained, the algorithm might fail, and we might end up with a biased model that will provide invalid output and low accuracy [133]. Therefore, the percentage of missing values in the data was calculated and then visualised by making plots enabling a quick overview of the NaN values present in the data and allowing us to impute them.

3.4.2. Correlation Analysis

Not all the variables present in the data are used in model building. Some variables are more important than others. Correlation analysis is used to check the relatedness of variables with each other, and it helps avoid multicollinearity problems and helps in the feature selection process. The correlation of the variables was calculated using the Python "corr" function and then visualised using a seaborn heatmap [134].

3.4.3. Feature Selection

The feature selection process is one of the most critical steps of an ML-based study. It helps remove irrelevant variables from the data and helps minimise the computational time and resources during model training [135]. Important features were selected based on the correlation heatmap, and the variables having a NaN value percentage of more than 70% were removed from the data.

3.4.4. Outlier Detection

One of the primary steps of data pre-processing involves outlier detection and removal. Outliers are the measurement of variables that deviates from other observations of the same variable, raising uncertainty [136] and can affect model accuracy and performance. Boxplots [137] are one of the outlier detection methods used in data pre-processing. They help to check for any ambiguity in the variable observations. In this study, the feature range (Table 5) provided by Fagerström *et al.* [88] was used for outlier detection, and the data were plotted using the seaborn "boxplot" function.

Feature	Range (min-max)
HR	1 - 320
O ₂ Sat	1 - 100
SBP	1 - 400
DBP	1 - 300
Resp	1 - 150
Age	15 - 90

Table 5: Feature range for outlier detection

3.4.5. Age Analysis

The definition of sepsis varies for adults and children [138]. To check if the age of patients in the data is more or less as provided in the feature range, age analysis was

performed using Python "min" and "max" functions. Patient count age-wise and age category-wise was visualised using a pandas bar plot [139]. Also, gender analysis was performed by plotting the gender count of male and female patients and septic and non-septic patient count gender-wise, respectively.

3.4.6. ICULOS Analysis

Patients whose ICULOS was not starting from 1st hour were removed from the data as they were considered ambiguous. Any effort to impute the first-hour observations of those particular patients was considered data corruption. Next, the patient ICULOS count was plotted, and those patients whose total ICULOS count was less than eight hours and more than 72 hours were removed from the data. Finally, the remaining patient data was used for model building.

3.4.7. Patient Separation

Imputation of septic and non-septic patient data separately is more meaningful than imputing the actual data. Therefore, the entire septic and non-septic patient count was calculated, and based on the total number of septic patients, the same number of non-septic patients were randomly selected. The data was then stored in separate data frames for imputation.

3.4.8. Data Imputation

Data imputation is crucial while pre-processing the data because NaN values in the data affect the model training and performance. For imputing the NaN values in the data, two methods were used in this study:

- MissForest Imputation
- Forward Fill and Zero (FFILL-0) Imputation

3.4.8.1. MissForest Imputation

MissForest is a Random Forest (RF) based method for data imputation. Initially, the algorithm imputes the NaN values based on the mean of the data variables; then, it imputes the NaN using the RF model on the data columns. It first imputes NaN in the column with the least missing values and then moves to the column with the second least number of missing values. The process continues until it meets the stopping criteria and all the NaN values in the data are imputed [140]. In this study, MissForest imputation was carried out on septic and non-septic patients separately with the following parameters:

- max_iters: 12
- n_jobs: -1
- criterion: squared_error

3.4.8.2. FFILL-0 Imputation

Another method of NaN values imputation used in this study is FFILL-0 imputation. In this technique, missing values are imputed using the value previous to the NaN value. This process is carried out using Python's "ffill" function. This method is known as the Last Observation Carried Forward (LOCF) and is widely used for time-series EHR data [141]. All the remaining missing values are imputed using "zero".

3.4.9. Train-Validation Data Split

After data imputation through MissForest and FFILL-0, septic and non-septic patient data were concatenated, and patients were shuffled. The shuffling was done so that the septic and non-septic patients could distribute randomly in the data. Two separate files were generated: one file had MissForest imputed septic and non-septic patients, while the second file had FFILL-0 imputed patients. Afterwards, the data were split into an 80-20 ratio (80% patients for training and 20% for validation). This process was done for both imputed files.

3.4.10. Creating multi-index data frame and Tensors

Another crucial step in this study is the creation of multi-index data frames (data frames with more than one index). This method aims to create a fixed-length tensor or array used for model training, which is achieved by padding each patient record with zeros. It ensures that each patient record has a fixed length and becomes a fixed-length tensor. These tensors are stored in NumPy arrays (.npy extension). The criteria used for padding are given below:

- maxlen: 72
- dtype: float32
- padding: post
- truncating: post

3.5. Model building and optimisation

The foremost step of an ML-based study is model building and optimisation. The choice of an ML algorithm for building the model depends on the data. Since this research project's data is time-series, using traditional ML algorithms would be a poor approach because they might fail for sepsis detection [102]. To avoid dire outcomes, the approach used in this study focused on DL algorithms like Recurrent Neural Networks (RNN) because they can easily handle time-series data and thus can help forecast sepsis risk.

3.5.1. Selected Algorithms

Following DL algorithms were selected for this study:

- Long Short-Term Memory (LSTM) Networks
- Gated Recurrent Units (GRU) Networks

Figure 17 shows the LSTM and GRU model architecture used in this study.



Figure 17: The proposed architecture of (a) LSTM and (b) GRU networks used in this research project.

3.5.1.1. LSTM Networks

One of the most broadly used RNNs is an LSTM network. Figure 18 (a) shows a simple LSTM network architecture. It has one input, one hidden, and one output gate. As a result, they can learn long-term dependencies and solve problems like Vanishing and Exploding gradients confronted in RNN [142].

3.5.1.2. GRU Networks

GRU is another widely used RNN type. It is also capable of solving vanishing and exploding gradient problems. However, the difference lies in the number of gates. In LSTM, there are three gates, while in GRU, there are two gates: update and reset. Figure 18 (b) shows a simple GRU network architecture



Figure 18: A simple architecture of (a) LSTM and (b) GRU networks [143]

3.5.2. Model Architecture Decisions

Keras Functional API is used for this study to build stacked LSTM and GRU models instead of Sequential API as it provides more flexibility [129]. The model architecture is the same for LSTM and GRU; however, the only difference lies in the layers. One model used LSTM layers, and the other used GRU layers.

3.5.2.1. Masking layer

Since the data is processed by padding to make it a fixed-length tensor, the masking layer is added after the input layer. Therefore, it will force the model to ignore the padding, and the model will drop those time steps where all the feature's value is equal to the value assigned in the masking layer.

3.5.2.2. LSTM / GRU layer

For this study, the following parameters are used to build LSTM and GRU models:

- layers: Three layers
- units: 200 units in each layer
- dropout: 0.20
- recurrent_dropout: 0.1
- return_sequences: True
- implementation: 2

3.5.2.3. Output layer

The output layer has a dense layer wrapped in a TimeDistributed wrapper. The parameters are:

- units: 1
- activation: sigmoid

3.5.2.4. Model Compilation

After adding all the layers, the last step in building the model is to compile it. The following parameters are used in the model compilation step:

- optimizer: RMSprop
- learning_rate: 0.001
- loss: binary_crossentropy

3.5.2.5. Model Training

After completing all the model-building steps, the model was trained using the Keras "fit" API. Following are the parameters used for model training:

- x: train data (fixed-length tensor)
- y: test data (fixed-length tensor)

- sample_weight: 1-D array of ones
- batch_size: 128
- epochs: 500
- verbose: 1

3.6. Model Evaluation

After building and training the model, the final step of the analysis is to check its effectiveness in forecasting the sepsis risk by using the hold-out (or validation) dataset. The Keras "predict" API evaluated the model on the validation dataset. The results were visualised using the Matplotlib "pcolor" function [144], which creates a heat map-like plot of the prediction array. The mortality risk was visualised in the form of a Python line plot. Finally, the model is evaluated by calculating AUROC (Area under the Receiver Operating Characteristics Curve).

Results

4.1. Data collection and preparation

The data was collected from PhysioNet, and each patient file in PSV format was converted to a single CSV file with both hospital patients (40336 patients). The "glob" function reads the path and retrieves all files matching the file pattern mentioned in the glob, and the "for loop" iterate over each file, reads it, assigns the patient ID, and appends it to a data frame. This data frame is then saved to the CSV using the Pandas "to_csv" function.

4.2. Data Pre-processing and EDA

Data pre-processing is a necessary step in ML-based study. Below are the results of the data pre-processing and EDA performed in the study.

4.2.1. Missing (NaN) values

NaN value analysis was performed to check for missing data. Missing values were calculated in the data frame and plotted using the Matplotlib bar plot. Figure 19 shows the bar plot of the NaN values percentage present in the dataset. The x-axis shows the variables, and the y-axis shows the percentage. The variable names are present as legends on the upper left. NaN values were also plotted as a heatmap (Figure. 20). The khaki colour represents the NaN values, and the green-cyan colour represents the non-missing values.

4.2.2. Correlation analysis

Correlation analysis was performed to check the relationship of the variables, and the correlation matrix was plotted using a seaborn heatmap (Figure. 21). Most variables have negligible to weak positive and negative correlations. Also, some of the variables have a strong positive and negative correlation.

4.2.3. Feature Selection

Key features were selected based on the correlation heatmap and NaN value percentage threshold of 70%. Out of all the variables, six vital signs, three demographics, and one outcome variable were considered the best features for this analysis and these features are used for model building. Table 6 shows the selected features.

Feature No.	Туре	Features
1	Vital Sign	HR
2		O ₂ Sat
3		Temp
4		SBP
5		DBP
6		Resp
7	Demographics	Age
8		Gender
9		ICULOS
10	Outcome	SepsisLabel

Table 6: The finalised set of features chosen for model building

4.2.4. Outlier detection and removal

Data was plotted as a boxplot to check for outliers, and abnormal values were removed based on the feature range. Figure 22 shows the boxplot used for outlier detection in this study. All the variables were within the feature range except the age, which was then processed further.

4.2.5. Age and Gender Analysis

Patient count based on age was plotted as a bar plot to check how many patients share the same age (Figure. 23). Also, a bar plot was plotted for patient count age category-wise (Figure. 24). Since the minimum age range is 15 and the maximum is 90, all those patients whose age was less than 15 years and more than 90 years were removed from the data. Moreover, patient counts were plotted based on gender (Figure. 25), and septic and non-septic patient counts were also plotted based on gender (Figure. 26). After removing the patients based on age conditions, the following is the patient count:

- Original patient count in the dataset: 40336
- Patient count after applying age conditions: 39942



NaN Value percentage in the dataset

Figure 19: Percentage of NaN values in the dataset



NaN value Heatmap in entire data

Figure 20: Missing value heatmap of the dataset



Figure 21: Correlation heatmap of the dataset



Figure 22: Boxplot for outlier detection



Figure 23: Patient count Age-wise in the dataset



Figure 24: Patient count in the dataset Age-category-wise



Patient count based on Gender

Figure 25: Patient count based on gender in the dataset



Septic and Non-Septic Patient count

Figure 26: Septic and Non-septic patient count based on Gender

4.2.6. ICULOS Analysis

ICULOS is a crucial factor in the dataset and was focused on because it represents the number of hours since ICU patient admission. The more the ICULOS of a patient is, the higher burden it puts on hospitals. In this study, those patients with ICULOS not starting from one were removed. Following is the patient count before and after the first ICULOS condition:

- Before first ICULOS condition: 39942
- After first ICULOS condition: 31162

Following this, a second ICULOS condition was applied. ICULOS count was calculated for each patient and stored in a separate column in the data frame. Patients with an ICULOS count of less than eight and more than 72 were removed. Following is the patient count before and after applying the second condition:

- Before the second condition: 31162
- After the second condition: 30361

Moreover, the final patient count was visualised as a bar plot (Figure. 27).



Patient count after ICULOS conditions

Figure 27: Patient count after ICULOS conditions

4.2.7. Septic and non-septic patient separation

For imputing missing values in the data, septic and non-septic patients were separated. First, the septic and the non-septic patient count were plotted as a bar chart (Figure. 28). Then, based on the total septic patients, non-septic patients were down-sampled, and the same number of non-septic patients were randomly selected. Also, gender-based septic and non-septic patient count were plotted (Figure. 29). Following is the septic and non-septic patient count:

- Total number of septic patients: 1614
- Number of non-septic patients before down sampling: 28747
- Non-septic patient count after random down-sampling: 1614

Patient data was then stored in separate CSV files so they could be imputed.



Figure 28: Septic and non-septic patient count in the final dataset



Figure 29: Gender-based Septic and Non-septic patient count in the final dataset

4.2.8. Missing data imputation

Missing values present in the septic and non-septic patients were imputed separately using the MissForest algorithm and FFILL-0 imputation.

4.2.8.1. NaN imputation through MissForest

The MissForest algorithm was implemented using the Python "fit_transform" function. This function fits the MissForest imputer on the data frame. After completion, the output was an array, which was then converted to a data frame. The variable values were rounded off like original values using Python "round" function, and the data types of some variables, which were converted to "float", were changed back to "int" using Python "astype" function. Finally, the data frame was then saved as a CSV file.

4.2.8.2. NaN imputation through FFILL-0 method

Figure 30 illustrates the visual representation of the FFILL-0 method. In this method, the imputation was done for each patient separately using the Python "groupby" function based on the P_ID column. NaN values were then imputed using

Python "ffill" function, and the remaining NaN values were imputed with zero using Python "fillna" function. Finally, the data was saved as a CSV file.



Figure 30: Visual representation of working of FFILL-0 imputation method

4.2.9. Data Splitting

For model training, the patient data was split into an 80-20 ratio. Of the total 3228 patients' data, 80% was used in model training, and 20% was reserved for model validation as hold-out data. They were further split into "x" and "y" training and validation datasets.

4.2.10. Multi-indexing and padding

After data splitting, the training and validation datasets were converted to multiindex data frames. Then the files were converted to tensors and saved as arrays. These fixed-length tensors were then used for model training and validation.

4.3. Model training and evaluation

This study trained LSTM and GRU models on MissForest and FFILL-0 imputed data. Thus, a total of four models were trained for 500 epochs each. The model architecture used three LSTM and GRU layers with 200 units each. The batch size of 128 means the parameters are updated every 128 time-steps. A dropout of 0.20 was used to prevent model overfitting as a regularisation method, which means it randomly drops 20% of input vectors in each time step.

Also, a recurrent dropout of 0.1 was applied to the model, which means it drops 10% of the units. Moreover, as we dealt with the binary classification problem in our study to find the mortality risk, binary cross-entropy was used as a loss function, and a small

learning rate of 0.001 was used in the RMSprop optimiser. The smaller the learning rate, the more accurate the training is. Figure 31 shows the training loss of each model.



LSTM Model Training Loss (MissForest Imputed Data)



(b)



(c)



Figure 31: Model Training Loss. The x-axis represents the number of epochs, and the y-axis shows the loss. (a) LSTM model training loss on MissForest imputed data (0.1097). (b) LSTM model training loss on FFILL-0 imputed data (0.0854). (c) GRU model training loss on MissForest imputed data (0.1225). (d) GRU model training loss on FFILL-0 imputed data (0.0892)

The models were then evaluated on the hold-out datasets to check their effectiveness. Random patient predictions were also plotted as line and matrix plots (Figure. 32).





Figure 32: Sepsis mortality risk calculation. (a) Patients with a low sepsis probability and mortality risk. (b) Patients with a high sepsis probability and mortality risk.



Finally, the AUROC was calculated for each model (Figure. 33).

Figure 33: ROC curve for LSTM and GRU models on MissForest and FFILL-0 imputed data.

Discussion

There is no permanent solution to stop sepsis progression in ED or ICU patients. However, the only solution to stop patient mortality and sepsis risk is the early and fast detection of sepsis. Microbial infections are the leading cause of sepsis in critically ill patients, with most sepsis incidences related to septicaemia. Conventional sepsis treatment approaches involve antibiotics and drug administration [145]. However, it is difficult to diagnose due to non-specific symptoms of sepsis.

Also, whether the patient's condition is due to sepsis or some other disease is difficult to determine, which can delay the treatment of the patient [146]. Initial sepsis detection methods are based on BCs, PCRs, and biomarkers. However, specific growth conditions are required for pathogens to grow in BCs, making them tedious. Moreover, unwanted sample noise can hinder the efficiency of PCR methods [68].

Sepsis is detected based on SIRS, SOFA, qSOFA, NEWS2, and MEWS scoring systems. For SIRS, if a patient meets two out of four conditions, it is said to be septic. Likewise, for SOFA and qSOFA, if a patient has a score of two or more is said to be septic. A NEWS2 score of five or more indicates the onset of sepsis in patients. Also, a patient with MEWS score of more than or equal to four is said to be septic [79, 147, 148].

These scoring systems are widely used for sepsis detection in hospitals; still, they are not enough. The involvement of blood sampling to test for the abnormal values of biomarkers in the blood in case of SOFA takes time, and each passing hour without treatment can risk the patient's life expectancy [77].

ML and DL-based approaches can precisely predict sepsis onset and even predict patient mortality with a high probability [149]. Some studies incorporate laboratory values alongside vital signs and demographics as essential features to train the model and achieve higher AUROC, which means their method can effectively predict sepsis. However, they have certain limitations regarding data availability, preprocessing, or model architecture.

The current research focused on non-invasive methods and used vital signs and demographics to build a DL-based sepsis risk forecasting system. However, this study

differs from other published studies on sepsis detection in data pre-processing and model architecture. For NaN values imputation in the data, MissForest [127] and LOCF (FFILL-0) [141] methods are used. First, the percentage of the missing data was calculated and plotted as a bar plot (Figure. 19) and heatmap (Figure. 20), which allowed us to check the percentage of NaN values in each variable, enabling the choice of a threshold of 70% for NaN values. Also, correlation analysis was performed and plotted as a heatmap to check for multicollinearity.

Features were then selected based on the correlation and the NaN values threshold. Those variables with a NaN percentage greater than or equal to the threshold were excluded from the data, and the features were finalised. The finalised feature set included six vital signs (HR, O₂Sat, Temp, SBP, DBP, Resp), three demographics (Age, Gender, ICULOS), and one outcome variable (SepsisLabel). Finally, data were plotted as a boxplot to check for any outliers in the finalised feature set, and outliers were removed based on feature range (Table 5).

Since the definition of sepsis differs in children and adults, age analysis was performed to see if the patient's age is outside the 15 - 90 (years) age range, as provided in Table 5. The total number of patients in the data was 40336. Gender analysis was also performed to see how many patients were male and female. Of the 40336 patients, 22566 were male, and 17770 were female (Figure. 25). Also, out of 22566 male patients, 20827 were non-septic, and 1739 were septic. Similarly, out of 17770 female patients, 16577 were non-septic, and 1193 were septic (Figure. 26), which indicates that the male population is more prone to sepsis than females.

Moreover, out of 40336 patients, 394 patients had ages outside the feature range. Out of which two patients were 14 years old, 392 were 100 years old and were removed from the data. The total number of patients left after removing patients was 39942. Then ICULOS analysis was performed, and those patients removed whose ICULOS was not starting from one, followed by those patients who had ICULOS count less than eight hours and more than 72 hours, leaving behind 30361 patients, which was then visualized as a bar plot (Figure. 27).

After that, data was plotted to visualize the septic and non-septic patient count (Figure. 28). Out of 30361 remaining patients, 28747 were non-septic, and 1614 were septic. Of 28747 non-septic patients, 13042 were female, and 15705 were male.

Likewise, out of 1614 septic patients, 653 were females, and 961 were males. This analysis helped down-sample the non-septic patients to match septic patients in number since the number of septic patients was less than non-septic patients. The purpose of this technique was to avoid using artificial data generation methods such as Synthetic Minority Over-sampling Technique (SMOTE) to up-sample septic patients [150].

Afterwards, NaN values were imputed in the data using MissForest and LOCF-0 (FFILL-0) methods. Finally, the data was converted to fixed-length tensors or arrays, which make model training easier, and then fed to LSTM and GRU models as input. Four models were trained based on MissForest and FFILL-0 imputed data, and sepsis mortality risk was forecasted (Figure. 32). The prediction array was plotted as a heat map-like plot along with the line plot illustrating the forecasted sepsis probability of the patient. A probability threshold of 0.5 was selected. Patients with a probability less than the threshold represent a low risk of becoming septic and have a low mortality risk, while the probability greater than the threshold indicates the patient has a higher risk of becoming a septic patient with a higher mortality risk.

Finally, the AUROC was calculated and visualized (Figure.33), and the highest AUROC was achieved by the LSTM model trained on MissForest-imputed data (0.758) as compared to the LSTM model trained on FFILL-0 imputed data (0.714), GRU model trained on MissForest imputed data (0.673), and GRU model trained on FFILL-0 imputed data (0.746). No work, to our knowledge, has been published yet that used a similar data pre-processing and model architecture for sepsis risk forecasting using non-invasive methods based on vital signs and demographics only.

Conclusion and Future Perspectives

The study aims to forecast the sepsis mortality risk using the DL-based method. A novel data pre-processing method is introduced in this study, and a unique model architecture is used. The study used data from PhysioNet Cardiology Challenge 2019, and an 80-20 split ratio was used for training and validating the model. The MissForest algorithm and LOCF (FFILL-0) imputation methods were used to impute NaN values in the data, and MissForest imputed data outperformed LOCF (FFILL-0) imputation when models were evaluated on validation data. LSTM achieved the highest AUROC of 0.758 and 0.714 on MissForest data compared to GRU, which achieved AUROC of 0.673 and 0.746 on FFILL-0 imputed data.

Though the present study is limited to publicly available data of the USA population, it has very few septic patients, and the non-septic patients are down-sampled to match the number of septic patients. For a future perspective, the study aims to use the local data from the Pakistani population as a validation cohort in order to test the effectiveness of the model, and by using the transfer learning approach, the model will be trained on local data with a more significant number of septic patients. It is surmised that the model will achieve even greater AUROC and can forecast sepsis risk more efficiently.
References

- J.-L. Vincent, S. M. Opal, J. C. Marshall, and K. J. Tracey, "Sepsis definitions: time for change," *Lancet (London, England)*, vol. 381, no. 9868, pp. 774, 2013.
- [2] D. Berg, and H. Gerlach, "Recent advances in understanding and managing sepsis," *F1000Research*, vol. 7, 2018.
- [3] G. Ercoli *et al.*, "Intracellular replication of Streptococcus pneumoniae inside splenic macrophages serves as a reservoir for septicaemia," *Nature microbiology*, vol. 3, no. 5, pp. 600-610, 2018.
- [4] C. J. Czura, ""Merinoff symposium 2010: sepsis"—speaking with one voice," *Molecular Medicine*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 2-3, 2011.
- [5] J. M. O'Brien, N. A. Ali, S. K. Aberegg, and E. Abraham, "Sepsis," *The American Journal of Medicine*, vol. 120, no. 12, pp. 1012-1022, 2007/12/01/, 2007.
- [6] I. Matot, and C. L. Sprung, "Definition of sepsis," *Intensive Care Medicine*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. S3-S9, 2001/02/01, 2001.
- [7] F. Gül, M. K. Arslantaş, İ. Cinel, and A. Kumar, "Changing Definitions of Sepsis," *Turk J Anaesthesiol Reanim*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 129-138, Jun, 2017.
- [8] P. E. Marik, and A. M. Taeb, "SIRS, qSOFA and new sepsis definition," *Journal of thoracic disease*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 943-945, 2017.
- [9] G. S. Martin, "Sepsis, severe sepsis and septic shock: changes in incidence, pathogens and outcomes," *Expert review of anti-infective therapy*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 701-706, 2012.
- [10] R. S. Hotchkiss *et al.*, "Sepsis and septic shock," *Nature reviews. Disease primers*, vol. 2, pp. 16045-16045, 2016.
- [11] G.-D. Sun, Y. Zhang, S.-S. Mo, and M.-Y. Zhao, "Multiple Organ Dysfunction Syndrome Caused by Sepsis: Risk Factor Analysis," *International journal of general medicine*, vol. 14, pp. 7159-7164, 2021.
- [12] G. Du Pont-Thibodeau, J.-S. Joyal, and J. Lacroix, "Management of neonatal sepsis in term newborns," *F1000prime reports*, vol. 6, 2014.
- [13] J. Eriksson *et al.*, "Comparison of the sepsis-2 and sepsis-3 definitions in severely injured trauma patients," *Journal of Critical Care*, vol. 54, pp. 125-129, 2019/12/01/, 2019.

- [14] J. Cohen, "The immunopathogenesis of sepsis," *Nature*, vol. 420, no. 6917, pp. 885-891, 2002.
- [15] T. Gary, D. Mingle, and A. Yenamandra, "The evolving definition of sepsis," arXiv preprint arXiv:1609.07214, 2016.
- [16] L. A. Dykes *et al.*, "Contrasting qSOFA and SIRS Criteria for Early Sepsis Identification in a Veteran Population," *Federal practitioner : for the health care professionals of the VA, DoD, and PHS*, vol. 36, no. Suppl 2, pp. S21-S24, 2019.
- [17] F. Verdonk, A. Blet, and A. Mebazaa, "The new sepsis definition: limitations and contribution to research and diagnosis of sepsis," *Current Opinion in Anesthesiology*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 200-204, 2017.
- [18] S. Lambden, P. F. Laterre, M. M. Levy, and B. Francois, "The SOFA score development, utility and challenges of accurate assessment in clinical trials," *Critical Care*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 374, 2019/11/27, 2019.
- [19] J. Wang, R. A. Barke, J. Ma, R. Charboneau, and S. Roy, "Opiate abuse, innate immunity, and bacterial infectious diseases," *Archivum Immunologiae et Therapiae Experimentalis*, vol. 56, no. 5, pp. 299, 2008/10/06, 2008.
- [20] B. Gyawali, K. Ramakrishna, and A. S. Dhamoon, "Sepsis: The evolution in definition, pathophysiology, and management," *SAGE Open Medicine*, vol. 7, pp. 2050312119835043, 2019.
- [21] Y. Kakihana, T. Ito, M. Nakahara, K. Yamaguchi, and T. Yasuda, "Sepsisinduced myocardial dysfunction: pathophysiology and management," *Journal* of Intensive Care, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 22, 2016/03/23, 2016.
- [22] A. M. Taeb, M. H. Hooper, and P. E. Marik, "Sepsis: current definition, pathophysiology, diagnosis, and management," *Nutrition in Clinical Practice*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 296-308, 2017.
- [23] F. Cochet, and F. Peri, "The role of carbohydrates in the lipopolysaccharide (LPS)/toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) signalling," *International journal of molecular sciences*, vol. 18, no. 11, pp. 2318, 2017.
- [24] D. Jarczak, S. Kluge, and A. Nierhaus, "Sepsis—Pathophysiology and Therapeutic Concepts," *Frontiers in Medicine*, vol. 8, 2021-May-14, 2021.
- [25] M. Sagy, Y. Al-Qaqaa, and P. Kim, "Definitions and pathophysiology of sepsis," *Current problems in pediatric and adolescent health care*, vol. 43, no. 10, pp. 260-263, 2013.

- [26] J. Jacobi, "Pathophysiology of sepsis," American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy, vol. 59, no. suppl_1, pp. S3-S8, 2002.
- [27] J. K. Seok, H. C. Kang, Y.-Y. Cho, H. S. Lee, and J. Y. Lee, "Therapeutic regulation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in chronic inflammatory diseases," *Archives of pharmacal research*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 16-35, 2021.
- [28] R. Xu, F. Lin, C. Bao, and F.-S. Wang, "Mechanism of C5a-induced immunologic derangement in sepsis," *Cellular & Molecular Immunology*, vol. 14, no. 9, pp. 792-793, 2017/09/01, 2017.
- [29] D. G. Remick, "Pathophysiology of sepsis," *Am J Pathol*, vol. 170, no. 5, pp. 1435-44, May, 2007.
- [30] J. E. Gotts, and M. A. Matthay, "Sepsis: pathophysiology and clinical management," *BMJ*, vol. 353, pp. i1585, 2016.
- [31] J. Simmons, and J. F. Pittet, "The coagulopathy of acute sepsis," *Curr Opin Anaesthesiol*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 227-36, Apr, 2015.
- [32] J. Greer, "Pathophysiology of cardiovascular dysfunction in sepsis," *BJA Education*, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 316-321, 2015.
- [33] R. Neviere, "Pathophysiology of sepsis," *De uptodate. com*, pp. 1-14, 2008.
- [34] C. Snowden, and E. Kirkman, "The pathophysiology of sepsis," BJA CEPD Reviews, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 11-14, 2002.
- [35] M. M. Panditrao, and M. M. Panditrao, "Optimizing oxygen delivery in sepsis: A review," Adesh University Journal of Medical Sciences & Research, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 8-15, 2019.
- [36] B. Griffiths, and I. D. Anderson, "Sepsis, SIRS and MODS," *Surgery (Oxford)*, vol. 27, no. 10, pp. 446-449, 2009/10/01/, 2009.
- [37] K. Hirota, "Involvement of hypoxia-inducible factors in the dysregulation of oxygen homeostasis in sepsis," *Cardiovascular & Haematological Disorders-Drug Targets (Formerly Current Drug Targets-Cardiovascular & Hematological Disorders)*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 29-40, 2015.
- [38] M. Ramírez, "Multiple organ dysfunction syndrome," *Current problems in pediatric and adolescent health care*, vol. 43, no. 10, pp. 273-277, 2013.
- [39] M. T. Ziesmann, and J. C. Marshall, "Multiple organ dysfunction: the defining syndrome of sepsis," *Surgical infections*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 184-190, 2018.
- [40] D. C. Angus, and R. S. Wax, "Epidemiology of sepsis: an update," *Crit Care Med*, vol. 29, no. 7 Suppl, pp. S109-16, Jul, 2001.

- [41] A. R. Ullah *et al.*, "A prospective observational study assessing the outcome of Sepsis in intensive care unit of a tertiary care hospital, Peshawar," *Pak J Med Sci*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 688-93, May-Jun, 2016.
- [42] S. Finfer, and F. R. Machado, "The global epidemiology of sepsis. Does it matter that we know so little?," 3, American Thoracic Society, 2016, pp. 228-230.
- [43] K. E. Rudd *et al.*, "Global, regional, and national sepsis incidence and mortality, 1990–2017: analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study," *The Lancet*, vol. 395, no. 10219, pp. 200-211, 2020.
- [44] P. Danai, and G. S. Martin, "Epidemiology of sepsis: Recent advances," *Current Infectious Disease Reports*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 329-334, 2005/09/01, 2005.
- [45] K. E. Hodgin, and M. Moss, "The Epidemiology of Sepsis," Current Pharmaceutical Design, vol. 14, no. 19, pp. 1833-1839, //, 2008.
- [46] L. Te Marvelde *et al.*, "Epidemiology of sepsis in cancer patients in Victoria, Australia: a population-based study using linked data," *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 53-58, 2020.
- [47] Y.-J. Chen *et al.*, "Epidemiology of sepsis in Taiwan," *Medicine*, vol. 98, no. 20, 2019.
- [48] H. C. Prescott, "The epidemiology of sepsis," *Handbook of Sepsis*, pp. 15-28, 2018.
- [49] R. A. Quintano Neira, S. Hamacher, and A. M. Japiassu, "Epidemiology of sepsis in Brazil: Incidence, lethality, costs, and other indicators for Brazilian Unified Health System hospitalizations from 2006 to 2015," *PloS one*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. e0195873, 2018.
- [50] A. Álvaro-Meca *et al.*, "Epidemiological trends of sepsis in the twenty-first century (2000–2013): an analysis of incidence, mortality, and associated costs in Spain," *Population health metrics*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 1-11, 2018.
- [51] F. Bloos, and K. Reinhart, "Rapid diagnosis of sepsis," *Virulence*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 154-160, 2014.
- [52] J. K. Aronson, and R. E. Ferner, "Biomarkers—a general review," *Current protocols in pharmacology*, vol. 76, no. 1, pp. 9.23. 1-9.23. 17, 2017.
- [53] R. Mayeux, "Biomarkers: potential uses and limitations," *NeuroRx,* vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 182-188, 2004.

- [54] C. Henriquez-Camacho, and J. Losa, "Biomarkers for sepsis," *BioMed research international*, vol. 2014, 2014.
- [55] M. Sandquist, and H. R. Wong, "Biomarkers of sepsis and their potential value in diagnosis, prognosis and treatment," *Expert review of clinical immunology*, vol. 10, no. 10, pp. 1349-1356, 2014.
- [56] T. N. Zhang *et al.*, "Non-coding RNA: a potential biomarker and therapeutic target for sepsis," *Oncotarget*, vol. 8, no. 53, pp. 91765-91778, Oct 31, 2017.
- [57] C. Henriquez-Camacho, and J. Losa, "Biomarkers for Sepsis," *BioMed Research International*, vol. 2014, pp. 547818, 2014/03/30, 2014.
- [58] C. Diaconu, A. Balaceanu, and E. Morosan, "Sepsis biomarkers: past, present and future," *Farmacia*, vol. 63, no. 6, pp. 811-815, 2015.
- [59] S.-L. Fan, N. S. Miller, J. Lee, and D. G. Remick, "Diagnosing sepsis The role of laboratory medicine," *Clinica Chimica Acta*, vol. 460, pp. 203-210, 2016/09/01/, 2016.
- [60] C. McGregor, "Improving time to antibiotics and implementing the" Sepsis 6"," *BMJ Open Quality*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. u202548. w1443, 2014.
- [61] L. Mellhammar *et al.*, "NEWS2 Is Superior to qSOFA in Detecting Sepsis with Organ Dysfunction in the Emergency Department," *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, vol. 8, no. 8, pp. 1128, 2019.
- [62] J.-L. Vincent, G. S. Martin, and M. M. Levy, "qSOFA does not replace SIRS in the definition of sepsis," *Critical Care*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 210, 2016/07/17, 2016.
- [63] M. A. F. Pimentel *et al.*, "A comparison of the ability of the National Early Warning Score and the National Early Warning Score 2 to identify patients at risk of in-hospital mortality: A multi-centre database study," *Resuscitation*, vol. 134, pp. 147-156, 2019/01/01/, 2019.
- [64] M. Myrstad *et al.*, "National Early Warning Score 2 (NEWS2) on admission predicts severe disease and in-hospital mortality from Covid-19 – a prospective cohort study," *Scandinavian Journal of Trauma, Resuscitation and Emergency Medicine*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 66, 2020/07/13, 2020.
- [65] J. Cohen, C. Brun-Buisson, A. Torres, and J. Jorgensen, "Diagnosis of infection in sepsis: an evidence-based review," *Critical care medicine*, vol. 32, no. 11, pp. S466-S494, 2004.

- [66] M. Llewelyn, and J. Cohen, "Diagnosis of infection in sepsis," *Intensive care medicine*, vol. 27, pp. S10, 2001.
- [67] C. Martin, C. Boisson, M. Haccoun, L. Thomachot, and J.-L. Mege, "Patterns of cytokine evolution (tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-6) after septic shock, hemorrhagic shock, and severe trauma," *Critical care medicine*, vol. 25, no. 11, pp. 1813-1819, 1997.
- [68] N. T. Trung, N. S. Thau, M. H. Bang, and L. H. Song, "PCR-based Sepsis@Quick test is superior in comparison with blood culture for identification of sepsis-causative pathogens," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 13663, 2019/09/20, 2019.
- [69] Z. Guo *et al.*, "Impact of satellite blood culture on early diagnosis of sepsis," *Journal of Intensive Medicine*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 56-60, 2022/01/01/, 2022.
- [70] U. Lodes, B. Bohmeier, H. Lippert, B. König, and F. Meyer, "PCR-based rapid sepsis diagnosis effectively guides clinical treatment in patients with new onset of SIRS," *Langenbeck's Archives of Surgery*, vol. 397, no. 3, pp. 447-455, 2012/03/01, 2012.
- [71] C. Leli *et al.*, "A prediction model for real-time PCR results in blood samples from febrile patients with suspected sepsis," *Journal of medical microbiology*, vol. 63, no. 5, pp. 649-658, 2014.
- [72] Y. Zhang *et al.*, "Detection of sepsis in patient blood samples using CD64 expression in a microfluidic cell separation device," *Analyst*, vol. 143, no. 1, pp. 241-249, 2018.
- [73] C. Russell *et al.*, "Development of a needle shaped microelectrode for electrochemical detection of the sepsis biomarker interleukin-6 (IL-6) in real time," *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, vol. 126, pp. 806-814, 2019.
- [74] U. Zupančič, P. Jolly, P. Estrela, D. Moschou, and D. E. Ingber, "Graphene Enabled Low-Noise Surface Chemistry for Multiplexed Sepsis Biomarker Detection in Whole Blood," *Advanced Functional Materials*, vol. 31, no. 16, pp. 2010638, 2021.
- [75] T. Bryan, X. Luo, P. R. Bueno, and J. J. Davis, "An optimised electrochemical biosensor for the label-free detection of C-reactive protein in blood," *Biosensors* and Bioelectronics, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 94-98, 2013.

- [76] J. Zhai et al., "Bioinformatics Analysis for Multiple Gene Expression Profiles in Sepsis," Medical science monitor : international medical journal of experimental and clinical research, vol. 26, pp. e920818-e920818, 2020.
- [77] P. E. Marik, "Don't miss the diagnosis of sepsis!," *Critical Care*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 529, 2014/09/27, 2014.
- [78] S. Q. Nguyen *et al.*, "Automated electronic medical record sepsis detection in the emergency department," *PeerJ*, vol. 2, pp. e343, 2014.
- [79] O. A. Usman, A. A. Usman, and M. A. Ward, "Comparison of SIRS, qSOFA, and NEWS for the early identification of sepsis in the Emergency Department," *The American Journal of Emergency Medicine*, vol. 37, no. 8, pp. 1490-1497, 2019/08/01/, 2019.
- [80] A. Brink *et al.*, "Predicting mortality in patients with suspected sepsis at the Emergency Department; A retrospective cohort study comparing qSOFA, SIRS and National Early Warning Score," *PloS one*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. e0211133, 2019.
- [81] S. P. Shashikumar *et al.*, "Early sepsis detection in critical care patients using multiscale blood pressure and heart rate dynamics," *Journal of electrocardiology*, vol. 50, no. 6, pp. 739-743, 2017.
- [82] I. Biney, M. McCormack, and T. McLaurine, "1637: A study comparing Invasive and Noninvasive Blood Pressure monitoring in patients with Septic Shock," *Critical Care Medicine*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 793, 2019.
- [83] P. S. Kohli, and S. Arora, "Application of machine learning in disease prediction." pp. 1-4.
- [84] M. Chen, Y. Hao, K. Hwang, L. Wang, and L. Wang, "Disease prediction by machine learning over big data from healthcare communities," *Ieee Access*, vol. 5, pp. 8869-8879, 2017.
- [85] D. Dahiwade, G. Patle, and E. Meshram, "Designing disease prediction model using machine learning approach." pp. 1211-1215.
- [86] M. Fatima, and M. Pasha, "Survey of machine learning algorithms for disease diagnostic," *Journal of Intelligent Learning Systems and Applications*, vol. 9, no. 01, pp. 1, 2017.
- [87] K. Li, Q. Shi, S. Liu, Y. Xie, and J. Liu, "Predicting in-hospital mortality in ICU patients with sepsis using gradient boosting decision tree," *Medicine*, vol. 100, no. 19, 2021.

- [88] J. Fagerström, M. Bång, D. Wilhelms, and M. S. Chew, "LiSep LSTM: a machine learning algorithm for early detection of septic shock," *Scientific reports*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 1-8, 2019.
- [89] M. Karthigha, and V. Akshaya, "A XGBOOST Based Algorithm for Early Prediction of Human Sepsis." pp. 1643-1647.
- [90] M. M. Islam *et al.*, "Prediction of sepsis patients using machine learning approach: A meta-analysis," *Computer Methods and Programs in Biomedicine*, vol. 170, pp. 1-9, 2019/03/01/, 2019.
- [91] J. S. Calvert *et al.*, "A computational approach to early sepsis detection," *Computers in biology and medicine*, vol. 74, pp. 69-73, 2016.
- [92] Q. Mao *et al.*, "Multicentre validation of a sepsis prediction algorithm using only vital sign data in the emergency department, general ward and ICU," *BMJ Open*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. e017833, 2018.
- [93] T. Desautels *et al.*, "Prediction of sepsis in the intensive care unit with minimal electronic health record data: a machine learning approach," *JMIR medical informatics*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. e5909, 2016.
- [94] S. Nemati *et al.*, "An interpretable machine learning model for accurate prediction of sepsis in the ICU," *Critical care medicine*, vol. 46, no. 4, pp. 547, 2018.
- [95] F. Amrollahi, S. P. Shashikumar, P. Kathiravelu, A. Sharma, and S. Nemati, "AIDEx-an open-source platform for real-time forecasting sepsis and a case study on taking ML algorithms to production." pp. 5610-5614.
- [96] K. H. Goh *et al.*, "Artificial intelligence in sepsis early prediction and diagnosis using unstructured data in healthcare," *Nature Communications*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 711, 2021/01/29, 2021.
- [97] R. A. Taylor *et al.*, "Prediction of In-hospital Mortality in Emergency Department Patients With Sepsis: A Local Big Data–Driven, Machine Learning Approach," *Academic Emergency Medicine*, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 269-278, 2016.
- [98] N. Hou *et al.*, "Predicting 30-days mortality for MIMIC-III patients with sepsis-3: a machine learning approach using XGboost," *Journal of Translational Medicine*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 462, 2020/12/07, 2020.
- [99] M. Zabihi, S. Kiranyaz, and M. Gabbouj, "Sepsis Prediction in Intensive Care Unit Using Ensemble of XGboost Models." pp. Page 1-Page 4.

- [100] X. Li *et al.*, "A Time-Phased Machine Learning Model for Real-Time Prediction of Sepsis in Critical Care," *Critical Care Medicine*, vol. 48, no. 10, pp. e884-e888, 2020.
- [101] P.-Y. Hsu, and C. Holtz, "A comparison of machine learning tools for early prediction of sepsis from icu data." pp. Page 1-Page 4.
- [102] A. R. Habib, A. L. Lin, and R. W. Grant, "The Epic Sepsis Model Falls Short— The Importance of External Validation," *JAMA Internal Medicine*, vol. 181, no. 8, pp. 1040-1041, 2021.
- [103] R. Topiwala, K. Patel, and B. Meisenberg, "1665: Examining the clinical utility of Insight: A Machine-Learning approach to Sepsis Identification," *Critical Care Medicine*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 806, 2019.
- [104] S. L. Zeger, R. A. Irizarry, and R. D. Peng, "On time series analysis of public health and biomedical data," 2004.
- [105] O. B. Sezer, M. U. Gudelek, and A. M. Ozbayoglu, "Financial time series forecasting with deep learning: A systematic literature review: 2005–2019," *Applied soft computing*, vol. 90, pp. 106181, 2020.
- [106] Z. Shen, Y. Zhang, J. Lu, J. Xu, and G. Xiao, "A novel time series forecasting model with deep learning," *Neurocomputing*, vol. 396, pp. 302-313, 2020.
- [107] A. Gasparin, S. Lukovic, and C. Alippi, "Deep learning for time series forecasting: The electric load case," CAAI Transactions on Intelligence Technology, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 1-25, 2022.
- [108] N. Wu, B. Green, X. Ben, and S. O'Banion, "Deep transformer models for time series forecasting: The influenza prevalence case," arXiv preprint arXiv:2001.08317, 2020.
- [109] S. Shastri, K. Singh, S. Kumar, P. Kour, and V. Mansotra, "Time series forecasting of Covid-19 using deep learning models: India-USA comparative case study," *Chaos, Solitons & Fractals*, vol. 140, pp. 110227, 2020.
- [110] S. P. Shashikumar, G. Wardi, A. Malhotra, and S. Nemati, "Artificial intelligence sepsis prediction algorithm learns to say "I don't know"," *npj Digital Medicine*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 134, 2021/09/09, 2021.
- [111] S. P. Shashikumar, C. Josef, A. Sharma, and S. Nemati, "DeepAISE--An endto-end development and deployment of a recurrent neural survival model for early prediction of sepsis," *arXiv preprint arXiv:1908.04759*, 2019.

- [112] S. M. Lauritsen *et al.*, "Early detection of sepsis utilizing deep learning on electronic health record event sequences," *Artificial Intelligence in Medicine*, vol. 104, pp. 101820, 2020.
- [113] A. Rafiei, A. Rezaee, F. Hajati, S. Gheisari, and M. Golzan, "SSP: Early prediction of sepsis using fully connected LSTM-CNN model," *Computers in biology and medicine*, vol. 128, pp. 104110, 2021.
- [114] K. E. Henry, D. N. Hager, P. J. Pronovost, and S. Saria, "A targeted real-time early warning score (TREWScore) for septic shock," *Science translational medicine*, vol. 7, no. 299, pp. 299ra122-299ra122, 2015.
- [115] M. A. Reyna *et al.*, "Early Prediction of Sepsis From Clinical Data: The PhysioNet/Computing in Cardiology Challenge 2019," *Critical Care Medicine*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 210-217, 2020.
- [116] B. PART, "OS Functions," G, 2012.
- [117] N. Novak, "Python loops," 2019.
- [118] Y. Shafranovich, "Common format and MIME type for comma-separated values (CSV) files," 2005.
- [119] K. Alfathdyanto, M. S. Febrianti, A. S. Prihatmanto, and C. Machbub, "Creating database for traditional dance categorization using CSV file format." pp. 167-171.
- [120] G. Walters, "Libraries," The Python Quick Syntax Reference, pp. 93-105: Springer, 2014.
- [121] W. McKinney, "pandas: a foundational Python library for data analysis and statistics," *Python for high performance and scientific computing*, vol. 14, no. 9, pp. 1-9, 2011.
- [122] W. McKinney, *Python for data analysis: Data wrangling with Pandas, NumPy, and IPython:* " O'Reilly Media, Inc.", 2012.
- [123] M. L. Waskom, "Seaborn: statistical data visualization," Journal of Open Source Software, vol. 6, no. 60, pp. 3021, 2021.
- [124] N. Ari, and M. Ustazhanov, "Matplotlib in python." pp. 1-6.
- [125] C. O. da Costa-Luis, "tqdm: A fast, extensible progress meter for python and cli," *Journal of Open Source Software*, vol. 4, no. 37, pp. 1277, 2019.
- [126] F. Pedregosa *et al.*, "Scikit-learn: Machine learning in Python," *the Journal of machine Learning research*, vol. 12, pp. 2825-2830, 2011.

- [127] D. J. Stekhoven, "missForest: Nonparametric missing value imputation using random forest," *Astrophysics Source Code Library*, pp. ascl: 1505.011, 2015.
- [128] S. Kapil, "Generators and Iterators," *Clean Python*, pp. 167-180: Springer, 2019.
- [129] E. Bisong, "TensorFlow 2.0 and Keras," Building Machine Learning and Deep Learning Models on Google Cloud Platform: A Comprehensive Guide for Beginners, pp. 347-399, Berkeley, CA: Apress, 2019.
- [130] A. Gulli, and S. Pal, *Deep learning with Keras*: Packt Publishing Ltd, 2017.
- [131] E. T. Bekar, P. Nyqvist, and A. Skoogh, "An intelligent approach for data preprocessing and analysis in predictive maintenance with an industrial case study," *Advances in Mechanical Engineering*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 1687814020919207, 2020.
- [132] W. McKinney, and P. Team, "Pandas-Powerful python data analysis toolkit," *Pandas—Powerful Python Data Analysis Toolkit*, vol. 1625, 2015.
- [133] N. Z. Abidin, A. R. Ismail, and N. A. Emran, "Performance analysis of machine learning algorithms for missing value imputation," *International Journal of Advanced Computer Science and Applications*, vol. 9, no. 6, 2018.
- [134] G. Rajagopalan, "Data visualization with python libraries," *A Python Data Analyst's Toolkit*, pp. 243-278: Springer, 2021.
- [135] J. Cai, J. Luo, S. Wang, and S. Yang, "Feature selection in machine learning: A new perspective," *Neurocomputing*, vol. 300, pp. 70-79, 2018.
- [136] H.-P. Kriegel, P. Kröger, and A. Zimek, "Outlier detection techniques," *Tutorial at KDD*, vol. 10, pp. 1-76, 2010.
- [137] K. Sahoo, A. K. Samal, J. Pramanik, and S. K. Pani, "Exploratory data analysis using Python," *International Journal of Innovative Technology and Exploring Engineering (IJITEE)*, vol. 8, no. 12, pp. 2019, 2019.
- [138] D. S. Wheeler, H. R. Wong, and B. Zingarelli, "Pediatric Sepsis Part I: "Children are not small adults!"," *The open inflammation journal*, vol. 4, pp. 4-15, 2011.
- [139] A. Pajankar, "Getting Started with Pandas," Practical Python Data Visualization, pp. 117-136: Springer, 2021.
- [140] D. J. Stekhoven, and P. Bühlmann, "MissForest—non-parametric missing value imputation for mixed-type data," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 112-118, 2012.

- [141] S. L. Fleming *et al.*, "Missingness as stability: Understanding the structure of missingness in longitudinal ehr data and its impact on reinforcement learning in healthcare," *arXiv preprint arXiv:1911.07084*, 2019.
- [142] V. Gupta, and A. Pandey, "Crude oil price prediction using LSTM networks," *International Journal of Computer and Information Engineering*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 226-230, 2018.
- [143] J. Zhao, Y. Nie, S. Ni, and X. Sun, "Traffic data imputation and prediction: An efficient realization of deep learning," *IEEE Access*, vol. 8, pp. 46713-46722, 2020.
- [144] R. Johansson, "Plotting and visualization," *Numerical python*, pp. 135-181: Springer, 2019.
- [145] P.-Y. Bochud, M. P. Glauser, and T. Calandra, "Antibiotics in sepsis," *Intensive Care Med*, vol. 27, no. Suppl 1, pp. S33-S48, 2001.
- [146] G. Polat, R. A. Ugan, E. Cadirci, and Z. Halici, "Sepsis and Septic Shock: Current Treatment Strategies and New Approaches," *Eurasian J Med*, vol. 49, no. 1, pp. 53-58, Feb, 2017.
- [147] A. F. Oduncu, G. S. Kıyan, and S. Yalçınlı, "Comparison of qSOFA, SIRS, and NEWS scoring systems for diagnosis, mortality, and morbidity of sepsis in emergency department," *The American Journal of Emergency Medicine*, vol. 48, pp. 54-59, 2021.
- [148] P. Wattanasit, and B. Khwannimit, "Comparison the accuracy of early warning scores with qSOFA and SIRS for predicting sepsis in the emergency department," *The American Journal of Emergency Medicine*, vol. 46, pp. 284-288, 2021.
- [149] M. Moor, B. Rieck, M. Horn, C. R. Jutzeler, and K. Borgwardt, "Early prediction of sepsis in the ICU using machine learning: a systematic review," *Frontiers in medicine*, vol. 8, pp. 607952, 2021.
- [150] N. V. Chawla, K. W. Bowyer, L. O. Hall, and W. P. Kegelmeyer, "SMOTE: synthetic minority over-sampling technique," *Journal of artificial intelligence research*, vol. 16, pp. 321-357, 2002.